HANDBOOK TO MITIGATE THE IMPACTS OF ROADS AND RAILWAYS ON ASIAN ELEPHANTS

From the Asian Elephant Transport Working Group













HANDBOOK TO MITIGATE THE IMPACTS OF ROADS AND RAILWAYS ON ASIAN ELEPHANTS

By Norris Dodd, Melissa Butynski, Rob Ament (co-chair), Shu Chen, Nilanga Jayasinghe, Jia Cherng Lim, Salman Saaban, Sandeep Kumar Tiwari (co-chair), Rodney van der Ree, Yun Wang, and Ee Phin Wong The designation of geographical entities in this handbook, and the presentation of the material, do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), or other participating organizations, concerning the legal status of any country, territory, or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This publication is made possible through the support of the International Connectivity Program at the Center for Large Landscape Conservation, World Wildlife Fund, Whitley Fund for Nature, and Friends. The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect those of IUCN.

This work was also supported in part by Asia's Linear Infrastructure safeGuarding Nature (ALIGN) Project, which aims to enhance the development and implementation of effective, high-quality linear infrastructure safeguards that protect people and nature from harm. The ALIGN Project is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). The contents are the responsibility of the Asian Elephant Transport Working Group and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.







WWF® and ©1986 Panda Symbol are owned by WWF. All rights reserved.

Published by:	Asian Elephant Transport Working Group		
Copyright:	© 2024 AsETWG, Asian Elephant Transport Working Group		
	Reproduction of this publication for educational or other non-commercial purposes is authorized without prior written permission from the copyright holder, provided the source is fully acknowledged.		
	Reproduction of this publication for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without prior written permission of the copyright holder.		
Citation:	Dodd, N., Butynski, M., Ament, R., Chen, S., Jayasinghe, N., Lim, J.C., Saaban, S., Tiwari, S. K., van der Ree, R., Wang, Y., & Wong, E. P. (2024). Handbook to Mitigate the Impacts of Roads and Railways on Asian Elephants. AsETWG (Asian Elephant Transport Working Group); IUCN WCPA Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group/IUCN SSC Asian Elephant Specialist Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.53847/PZNC3560</u>		
DOI:	https://doi.org/10.53847/PZNC3560		
Cover photo:	A young Asian elephant crossing the road Adobe Stock		
Layout by:	Kendra Hoff Center for Large Landscape Conservation		
Available online from:	Asian Elephant Transport Working Group (AsETWG) Secretariat of the IUCN WCPA Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group c/o Center for Large Landscape Conservation (CLLC) P.O. Box 1587 Bozeman, MT 59771 USA connectivity@largelandscapes.org		

Contents

Foreword 8 Acknowledgements 9
1. Introduction
1.1. The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group11
2. The Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure on Asian Elephants
2.1. Indirect Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure142.2. Direct Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure152.3. Highway Impacts162.4. Railway Impacts162.5 Barrier Effects172.6 Behavioural Impacts of LTI172.7 Canals17
3. The Mitigating Role of Wildlife Crossing Structures
4. Handbook Objectives
5. Asian Elephant Crossing Structure Types and Design Considerations
6. Criteria for Designing Effective Elephant Crossing Structures
6.1. Structure Type236.2. Structure Size and Openness236.3. Crossing Structure Approaches256.4. Crossing Structure Spacing and Placement26
7. Best Practice Design Guidelines for Elephant Crossing Structures
7.1. Underpasses 27 7.1.1. Minor Bridge Underpasses (< 30 m width)
8. Methodologies for Asian Elephant Crossing Structure Site Selections
8.1. Asian Elephant Connectivity and Corridor Plans368.2. Sign Surveys378.3. Camera Trapping388.4. Global Positioning System Telemetry398.5 Elephant Collision Hotspots on LTI418.6 Enhancing Habitat Near Crossing Structures418.7 Other Considerations When Locating and Designing Crossing Structures42



Contents

9. Role of Fencing in Promoting Effective Elephant Crossing Structures

10. Non-Structural Mitigation Approaches	48
10.1. Motorist Alert Signage 10.2. Traffic-Calming Measures 10.3. Railway Mitigation	
References	52

Tables

lables	
Table 1.	AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for minor bridge underpasses up to 30 m in width by underpass length across
	transport infrastructure
Table 2.	AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for bridged underpasses up to 30 m in width by underpass length across
	transport infrastructure
Table 3.	AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for engineered overpasses by total overpass length across transport
	infrastructure, including landscaped approach slopes
Table 4.	Methods of measuring effectiveness of mitigating impacts of LTI from Ament et al. (2023)

Figures

Figure 1.	The mitigation hierarchy is a systematic approach used in environmental impact assessment and management to address and minimise the negative impacts of development projects on the environment.	
	Julie Johnson and Madison Mayfield/Center for Large Landscape Conservation	12
Figure 2.	The construction of linear transport infrastructure (LTI) has significant and harmful effects on ecosystems and	
	species. Julie Johnson and Madison Mayfield/Center for Large Landscape Conservation	14
Figure 3.	The direct impact of railways on Asian elephants.	
	Julie Johnson and Madison Mayfield/Center for Large Landscape Conservation	15
Figure 4.	An Asian elephant waits with her herd to cross a busy road at Kota Tinggi, Johor, Malaysia.	
	Gukaaneswaran Kaliyappan/Management & Ecology of Malaysian Elephants.	16
Figure 5.	Minor bridge arch underpass in Bhutan. Norris Dodd	21
Figure 6.	Major bridge underpass in China. Yun Wang	21
Figure 7.	Long-span bridge in Nepal. Norris Dodd	21
Figure 8.	Viaduct for elephants in China. Yun Wang	22
Figure 9.	Flyover on National Highway 54E in Assam, India. Rob Ament	22
Figure 10.	Engineered overpass in Thailand. WWF-Thailand	22
Figure 11.	Natural overpass examples from China. Yun Wang	22
Figure 12.	Openness Index visualisation illustrating the impact of length through underpasses with the similar height	
	and width dimensions on perceived openness to elephants. Center for Large Landscape Conservation	24
Figure 13.	Approach slope visualisation of different backfill slopes approaching overpasses.	
	Center for Large Landscape Conservation	25
Figure 14.	Crossing structure terminology illustrating structure dimensions.	
	Center for Large Landscape Conservation	27
Figure 15.	Single-span girder minor bridges that serve as Asian elephant underpasses. Norris Dodd	27
Figure 16.	Example of open atria between bridge. Norris Dodd	28
Figure 17.	Underpass on Bhutan NH2 used by Asian elephants (left); reinforced	
	concrete box culvert Asian elephant underpass along a railway in southeast Bangladesh (right).	
	Norris Dodd	28
Figure 18.	Metal-plate arch underpass in southern Bhutan (left) Norris Dodd; underpass being erected (right).	
	Contech Engineered Solutions	29
Figure 19.	Major bridge underpass designed specifically for Asian elephant passage in South Yunnan, China (left)	
	Yun Wang; dual-use structure spanning a river in southern Nepal (right). Norris Dodd	30
Figure 20.	Long-span bridge in southern Nepal where obstructions and human impacts limit Asian elephant passage	
	under the bridge. Norris Dodd	30

Contents

Figures

Figure 21.	Viaduct constructed in China. Yun Wang
Figure 22. Figure 23.	An elephant at the viaduct in Malaysia. Astro Malaysia
-	extending 0.17 km and 0.25 km spanning the highway. Italian-Thai Development PLC
Figure 24.	Elephant overpass spanning a new railway line in Bangladesh (top left); backfilling around the
	structure (top right) Norris Dodd; to reconnect the elephant travel corridor (bottom) Bangladesh Railway 32
Figure 25.	Overpass design types, including girder bridge (top left) Norris Dodd; concrete arch (top right) Norris Dodd;
	retrofit metal-plate arch on an existing highway (bottom). Contech Engineered Solutions
Figure 26.	Aerial view of the 115-metre-wide Baihuashan Tunnel overpass, South Yunnan, China, with
	homes and buildings in the vicinity that limit effective elephant use of the overpass. Google Maps
Figure 27.	Elephant linkage associated with the core zone of a Bangladesh wildlife sanctuary where corridors
	intersect two existing highways (dashed boxes). Motaleb et al. (2016)
Figure 28.	Asian elephant sign types, including dung pile (left) Yun Wang; tracks through a new elephant
	underpass (centre) Norris Dodd; established elephant movement corridor/trail (right). Norris Dodd
Figure 29.	Image of an Asian elephant recorded along an established corridor in Bangladesh where an overpass
	is being constructed. Norris Dodd
Figure 30.	Team handling and fitting of a male Asian elephant that was tranquilised with a GPS telemetry collar in
	Peninsular Malaysia. Management & Ecology of Malaysian Elephants (MEME)
Figure 31.	Elephant fitted with GPS telemetry collar in Assam, India. WWF-India
Figure 32.	Asian elephant GPS fixes for one elephant north of the Brahmaputra River in Assam, India (left);
	the proposed Nameri-Sonai Rupai-Arimora Chapori (NSA) Corridor (right). WWF-India
Figure 33.	Asian elephant habitat enhancements accomplished in Bangladesh as railway construction compensation
	offsets. Norris Dodd
Figure 34.	A male elephant using an artificial salt lick created near the Gerik Viaduct in Perak, Malaysia. Salman Saaban 42
Figure 35.	Human activities under a wildlife viaduct in Malaysia, including locals fishing under the viaduct (left); an
	established dirt road leading from the highway to the viaduct (right). Management & Ecology of Malaysian
	Elephants (MEME)
Figure 36.	Remnants of a recreational camp under a wildlife viaduct on the Aring-Kenyir Road, Malaysia.
	Management & Ecology of Malaysian Elephants (MEME)
Figure 37.	A rubble wall in southern Bhutan. Norris Dodd
Figure 38.	Applications of railway track elephant barrier fencing with two horizontal track bars (left)
	Saklani et al., (2018); four horizontal track bars in Posita, Jharkhand, India (right). Wildlife Trust of India 44
Figure 39.	Schematic of reinforced, concrete elephant fence for railway project in Bangladesh (top);
0	ongoing construction of fence (lower left); completed fence (lower right). Norris Dodd
Figure 40.	Welded tube metal fence along the Silan Expressway near 17 crossing structures to prevent elephants
0	from reaching the highway. Yun Wang
Figure 41.	The Malaysian ELEfence prototype was successfully tested at the National Elephant Conservation Centre,
0	Lanchang, Pahang, Salman Saaban
Figure 42.	A dual-purpose reinforced concrete sound and elephant barrier will in India. Rob Ament
Figure 43.	Thorny bamboo to deter elephant movement and minimise fence damage, iStock.com/Mansum008
Figure 44.	Asian elephant alert signage. Motorist alert sign erected along the Silan Expressway. Yunnan Province.
0.	China (left) Yun Wang: caution sign within Raiaii National Park. India (right). Rob Ament
Figure 45.	Example of a flashing sign. Center for Large Landscape Conservation
Figure 46.	The installation of billboard-sized signage within elephant linkages is effective in
	alerting motorists to potential elephant presence. Salman Saaban
Figure 47.	Rumble strips from Lumding in Assam. Nilanga Javasinghe/WWF-US
Figure 48	An example of high financial penalties for speed violations in India. Nilanga Javasinghe/WWF-US
Figure 49	A chicane where curbs are placed in a straight road to make it more sinuous.
	Center for Large Landscape Conservation
Figure 50	Locomotive in Bangladesh equipped with a thermal imaging camera (top) and davtime (bottom left)
	and nighttime (bottom right) thermal camera images of testing elephants.
	Bernard Gruppe/Asian Development Bank

Foreword

There has never been a more pressing time for in-depth guidelines on linear infrastructure mitigation measures concerning elephants. These large-bodied, long-ranging proboscideans have been at the receiving end of a number of ill-planned or eco-insensitive development projects that stop their ability to move from habitat to habitat to satiate their basic needs of food, water, and security. Along with the pressures of forest and grassland loss and fragmentation and the threats of poaching, this added dimension of not being able to move between habitats due to linear infrastructure is affecting elephant populations greatly.

Elephants have been driven from their traditional movement corridors and have been forced through human habitation, often confused and disoriented, and cause severe conflict, including loss of human lives. In Asia today, more than 700 human lives are being lost annually due to wild elephants. Hundreds of elephants are also killed in retaliation. Equally problematic, the measures to protect this endangered species (and a critically endangered sub-species) and national laws and regulations have often been at odds because of the need for many nation states to rapidly increase their linear infrastructure to meet national developmental goals.

In order to escape this vortex of bilateral destruction, it is necessary to provide technical solutions to the twin issues. To prove that human developmental needs are concomitant with environmental concerns, there is a need for engineering and technological solutions that have an inherently ecofriendly approach. This Handbook, brought forth by the collaboration of two IUCN specialist groups (the Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group and the Asian Elephant Specialist Group) belonging to two sister commissions (the World Commission on Protected Areas and the Species Survival Commission), attempts to do just that.

Following up on the 'Protecting Asian Elephants from Linear Infrastructure' primer published in 2021, these detailed guidelines provide steps to be taken by developmental agencies when planning any linear infrastructure projects. While avoidance is still considered the ideal option for areas that are high in biodiversity richness, these guidelines have a role in case avoidance is not possible. In such cases, these guidelines can be used for a win-win situation for biodiversity conservation and human development.

I hope this Handbook is widely utilised across the elephant range and that it is adapted and translated into local languages, so that its use across all 13 countries that still have the Asian elephant is encouraged. I would also like to compliment the two commissions of the IUCN, which have come together in such a good example of collaboration for a common purpose.

Vivek Menon Councillor, IUCN & Chair, Asian Elephant Specialist Group, IUCN SSC March 1, 2024 New Delhi

Acknowledgements

The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group (AsETWG) is a cross-commission collaboration of the IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas' Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group (CCSG) and the IUCN Species Survival Commission's Asian Elephant Specialist Group (AsESG). The authors thank the many contributors of photos and figures, and the following people who provided invaluable support in research, review, editing, photo contributions, and layout: Marc Ancrenaz, Cheryl Cheah, Reuben Clements, Adam Felts, Mohammed Feeroz, Chandima Fernando, Kendra Hoff, Suphisit Jitvijak, Ram Chandra Kandel, Ananda Kumar, Prachi Mehta, Vivek Menon, Prajna Panda, Jennifer Pastorini, Sanjeeta Sharma Pokharel, Chution Savini, Nachiketha Sharma, TNC Vidya, Sreedhar Vijayakrishnan, Christine Gianas Weinheimer, and Lam Wai Yee.

Compliments are also made to the following case study contributors:

- WWF-India regarding the case study Radio collaring wild Asian elephants in the Brahmaputra Landscape, Assam, India.
- We would like to extend our gratitude to the following institutions for their invaluable support in the development of this handbook, listed in alphabetical order: Achieving Coexistence with Elephants (ACE) Project, Aurecon Lestari, China Academy of Transportation Sciences (CATS), Center for Large Landscape Conservation (CLLC), Department of Wildlife and National Parks of Peninsular Malaysia (PERHILITAN), Management & Ecology of Malaysia Elephants (MEME), Montana State University Western Transportation Institute, Sime Darby Foundation, University of Melbourne, University of Nottingham Malaysia, Whitley Fund for Nature, Wildlife Trust of India (WTI), World Wildlife Fund (WWF), WSP Global Inc., and Zoological Society of London (ZSL).



9 HANDBOOK TO MITIGATE THE IMPACTS OF ROADS AND RAILWAYS ON ASIAN ELEPHANTS



A motorbike narrowly passes an elephant on a road in Sri Lanka. | SREEDHAR VIJAYAKRISHNA

1. Introduction

The Asian elephant (*Elephas maximus*) is an iconic and wide-ranging keystone species inhabiting the biologically rich ecosystems of South and Southeast Asia (Williams et al., 2020). Their historical range covered eastern and southern China, stretching westward across to East Asia, ranging across Bhutan, Nepal, Sri Lanka, Pakistan, Bangladesh, and India, with historical evidence showing the elephant range crossed the Iranian coast and reached the ancient civilisation of Mesopotamia, where modern-day Turkey stands (Calabrese et al., 2017; Fernando & Pastorini, 2011; Mahmood et al., 2021; Sukumar, 2003). The Asian elephant's historical range also extended into Southeast Asia, covering Vietnam, Lao PDR, Cambodia, Myanmar, Thailand, Peninsular Malaysia and the island of Borneo (Sabah, Malaysia and Kalimantan, Indonesia), with the furthest southern range reaching the Indonesian island of Sumatra (Calabrese et al., 2017; Fernando & Pastorini, 2011; Mahmood et al., 2021; Sukumar, 2003). Since 1700, changes in land use and land cover have resulted in a 64% (3.36 million km²) decline in suitable elephant habitats across Asia (de Silva et al., 2023).

Today, Asian elephants are listed as 'Endangered' (the Sumatran subspecies is listed as Critically Endangered) on the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (IUCN, 2019). Approximately 52,000 Asian elephants are scattered across 13 countries in fragmented populations (Menon & Tiwari, 2019). Along with reduced habitat and range distribution, anthropogenic activities have contributed to landscape fragmentation, blocking ancient movement routes, reducing gene flow, and contributing to escalating human-elephant conflicts (HEC) (Leimgruber et al., 2003; Menon et al., 2017; Nyhus, 2016; Shaffer et al., 2019). A key anthropogenic threat to Asian elephant conservation is the development of linear transport infrastructure (LTI), such as roads, railways, and canals. LTI development is crucial for achieving global Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and funding for new and improved LTI across Asia is expected to increase dramatically. According to the Asian Development Bank, an annual investment of USD 1.7 trillion through 2030 is needed to maintain current growth rates and respond to climate change, with nearly one-third allocated to transport projects (ADB, 2017).

However, without proper safeguards in place, the unprecedented rate and rapidity of LTI development may contribute to global biodiversity decline and have significant negative impacts on Asian elephants (Wang et al., 2022). Construction and expansion of LTI without proper adherence to the mitigation hierarchy (Ekstrom et al., 2015; Figure 1) and other green standards and best practices can hinder elephant conservation and recovery efforts and necessitate habitat, corridor, and related protected area network restoration (Goswami et al., 2014; Hilty et al., 2020; Menon et al., 2017, 2020; Sukumar et al., 2016). In India, home to over half of all Asian elephants, LTI, especially collisions with trains, is a leading anthropogenic cause of elephant mortality (Thomas, 2021). Huang et al. (2020) reported that expanding Asian transport networks will further reduce elephant habitats and isolate herds, exacerbating human-elephant conflicts. Additionally, within the Terai Arc Landscape, the proximity to roads was identified as the most important factor influencing habitat suitability for elephants that prefer habitats away from roads (Sharma et al., 2020).

1.1. The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group

To address the impacts of LTI, the Asian Elephant Transport Working Group (AsETWG) was formed. The AsETWG is a collaboration between the IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group (CCSG) and the IUCN Species Survival Commission's Asian Elephant Specialist Group (AsESG). Its mission is to serve as the hub of expertise and technical support to deliver practical, science-based solutions that avoid and mitigate threats to Asian elephants posed by LTI across all 13 range states.



Read the first AsETWG publication here.

The first publication from the AsETWG (Ament et al., 2021), <u>Protecting Asian Elephants</u> from Linear Transport Infrastructure: The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group's <u>Introduction to the Challenges and Solutions</u>, detailed the impacts of existing and rapidly expanding LTI networks on elephants and provided an overview of the available range of options to address LTI impacts. It stressed the importance of embracing the mitigation hierarchy as a key approach to planning and designing alternative development for LTI projects (Ament et al., 2023; Figure 1).

The AsETWG recognizes the importance of adhering to the Avoid and Minimise approaches to LTI project development when at all possible, especially within protected areas.

We in no way advocate for the pursuit of the Mitigate approach as an alternative to early and thorough consideration of avoidance and/or minimisation strategies.



The Mitigation Hierarchy

Figure 1. The mitigation hierarchy is a systematic approach used in environmental impact assessment and management to address and minimise the negative impacts of development projects on the environment. It consists of steps to achieve the best possible environmental outcome.

JULIE JOHNSON AND MADISON MAYFIELD/CENTER FOR LARGE LANDSCAPE CONSERVATION

This publication aims to provide Asian elephant-specific mitigation measures to address the negative impacts of LTI. Mitigation measures have proven increasingly important to help address LTI impacts on Asian elephants and their habitats in the face of rapidly expanding transport networks across Asia (Ament et al., 2021; Alamgir et al., 2017). Over the past decade, considerable insights have been gained from the increasing application of green infrastructure measures to mitigate LTI impacts to Asian elephants and other species to support the development of informed guidelines and recommendations.

With the projected expansion of LTI across Asia, even with concerted efforts to avoid high-biodiversity areas, effective mitigation measures will be critical to reduce project impacts and prevent further habitat degradation for Asian elephants. This handbook aims to foster the application of effective mitigation measures, specifically crossing structures. Growing experience and research worldwide have demonstrated the technical and economic feasibility of crossing structures and management activities in effectively mitigating the impact of new, upgraded, or existing LTI on wildlife (Alamgir et al., 2017; Brennan et al., 2022; Rytwinski et al., 2016).



A herd crosses the B35 in Yala National Park, Sri Lanka.

2. The Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure on Asian Elephants

2.1. Indirect Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure

Worldwide, LTI constitutes a significant force altering natural ecosystems and impacting biodiversity (Foggin et al., 2021; Nayak et al., 2020). Poorly planned LTI development can have severe impacts on ecosystems and species. Often referred to as 'Pandora's Box,' the expansion or development of new infrastructure can have severe impacts on ecosystems and species, especially in and around protected areas. Some of these environmental problems include:

- loss, fragmentation, and degradation of habitat,
- increased rates of hunting and poaching of wildlife,
- increased resource extraction, such as legal and/or illegal mining and logging,
- pollution due to noise, light, vibrations and chemicals from vehicles and trains,
- increased frequency and intensity of wildfires,
- land speculation or land use change, and
- illegal settlements and increased human activity.



Figure 2. The construction of linear transport infrastructure (LTI) has significant and harmful effects on ecosystems and species. These impacts include habitat loss, degradation, fragmentation, and increased rates of hunting, poaching, illegal mining, logging, and other extractive industries. LTI also contributes to pollution through noise, light, vibrations, and chemicals emitted by vehicles and trains. Additionally, it can increase the frequency and intensity of wildfires, land speculation, and the establishment of illegal settlements.

JULIE JOHNSON AND MADISON MAYFIELD/CENTER FOR LARGE LANDSCAPE CONSERVATION

2.2. Direct Impact of Linear Transport Infrastructure

Figure 3 highlights the direct impacts of railways on elephants; impacts from roadways and canals are generally considered similar (Ament et al., 2023).



Figure 3. The direct impact of railways on Asian elephants.

2.3. Highway Impacts

Direct impacts, such as mortality and barrier effects from LTI, are recognised as a serious and growing threat to wildlife populations across the globe. Wildlife-vehicle collisions, while often deadly for wildlife, can also contribute to human injuries, deaths, and property loss (Cserkész & Farkas, 2015; Dorsey et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2021). Highway traffic and associated noise can contribute to wildlife avoidance zones (Forman & Alexander, 1998). For each kilometre of road in a national park in India, road-related habitat loss and degradation affected at least 10 hectares (ha) of habitat (Raman, 2011).

Highways with moderate traffic volume (less than 8,000 vehicles per day) were near-total barriers to wildlife passage (Paquet & Callaghan, 1996; Olsson, 2007; Dodd & Gagnon, 2011; Gagnon et al., 2012). Theoretical models (Seiler, 2003; luell et al., 2003) infer that highways with 4,000–10,000 average annual daily traffic present substantial barriers to wildlife passage that repel animals away from highways; at 10,000 average annual daily traffic and above, highways become impermeable barriers (Seiler, 2003).

2.4. Railway Impacts

Train collisions with Asian elephants are a significant and well-documented source of mortality, especially in India and Sri Lanka (Joshi & Singh, 2011; Menon et al., 2017; Rangarajan et al., 2010; Sarma et al., 2006; Singh & Sharma, 2001). Various factors contribute to this mortality, including ecological factors, railway physical factors (steep embankments and curves), technical factors (train speed, frequency, and time of travel), elephant behaviour, and lack of awareness among operators and planners (Singh & Sharma, 2001; Sarma et al., 2006). In India, train-related elephant mortalities were higher near curves and areas adjacent to heavy forest cover that reduces visibility. Dasgupta and Ghosh (2015) reported increased elephant-train collisions attributable to increased traffic and speed, low visibility, and the lack of effective warning systems for approaching trains.

In India, 355 elephants died in train collisions between 1987 and April 2023; two-thirds occurred in the states of Assam and West Bengal (Joshi et al., 2019; Government of India, 2023). Train-elephant collisions were found to occur more often at night and involved more male elephants when accounted for in terms of ratio in the population, as males may cross the tracks more often to embark on crop raiding behaviour during crop harvest season (Roy & Sukumar, 2017; Sukumar, 2003). In Sri Lanka, 122 elephant deaths were reported from train collisions between 2005 and 2018 (Ament et al., 2021). In addition, elephant deaths from vehicular collisions are a concern in Peninsular Malaysia, Thailand, and other range states.



Figure 4. An Asian elephant waits with her herd to cross a busy road at Kota Tinggi, Johor, Malaysia. | GUKAANESWARAN KALIYAPPAN / MANAGEMENT & ECOLOGY OF MALAYSIAN ELEPHANTS

2.5. Barrier Effects

Indirect LTI barrier impacts can be even more pervasive than direct impacts. For many species, barrier and fragmentation effects contribute to diminished landscape connectivity and LTI permeability, or the ability of animals to cross highways and other LTI (Forman et al., 2003; Bissonette & Adair, 2008). LTI creates barriers to wildlife movement that fragment populations and habitats, limit juvenile dispersal and genetic interchange, threaten population viability, and increase population susceptibility to stochastic events (Epps et al., 2005; Ng et al., 2020; Singh & Sharma, 2001; Wang et al., 2022). The degree of barrier effect varies by wildlife species, highway type and standard, and traffic volume (Fahrig & Rytwinski, 2009; Jacobson et al., 2016). Mega-herbivores like elephants, with large home ranges and food requirements, have been among the species most affected by habitat alteration, fragmentation, and the loss of ecological connectivity (Leimgruber et al., 2003; Menon et al., 2017; Suksavate et al., 2019; Neupane et al., 2019). Within a protected area in China, initial elephant use of established travel corridors crossing a new road diminished by 82% after construction, though crossings at underpasses have increased over time (Pan et al., 2009). In a study from north Peninsular Malaysia, Wadey et al. (2018) reported that a Malaysian highway was a strong and consistent barrier to Asian elephants, reducing permeability by 80%.

2.6. Behavioural Impacts of LTI

Asian elephants display various behavioural reactions to LTI, depending on locality and individual experiences. A study in Mudumalai, a tiger reserve in India, found that wild elephants responded negatively to drivers who are more intrusive in their behaviour (e.g., yelling or taunting) and reacted differently towards varying vehicle sizes. However, a significant proportion of elephants became agitated or displayed extreme responses when motorists simply drove past, indicating that driver behaviour, vehicle type, and traffic volume are all compounding factors (Vidya & Thuppil, 2010). When elephant groups cross roads, the mature elephants often cross first, and they tend to stay on the road longer, possibly to look out for the group (Mizuno et al., 2017). Additionally, wider roads (regardless of major or secondary roads) elicit stress behaviour (i.e., straightening of the tail) from a larger proportion of elephants in the group, resulting in longer road crossing duration (Mizuno et al., 2017). Wadey et al. (2018) discovered that elephants in northern Peninsular Malaysia are drawn to the open, grassy areas along highways, including both hidden and exposed slopes, where forage is more abundant compared to adjacent forests, leading to increased time spent near roadways and elevating risks of vehicle collisions and poaching. The elephants were found to be primarily consuming grasses and other pioneer plants (Yamamoto-Ebina et al., 2016).

Additionally, recent observations by a WWF-India team through a complementary GPS collaring and camera trapping exercise indicate that elephants take longer to cross railway tracks that are elevated with steep inclines on either side, increasing the risk of collisions. Camera trap evidence has revealed that elephants cross such tracks one at a time, with each individual at the top waiting on the track until the one ahead has fully descended.

2.7. Canals

Canals rely on local topography for optimal water flow, often independent of paved roads and railways. Few studies have explored the impacts of canals on wildlife versus other forms of LTI, but canals have been noted as a significant cause of mortality. The rate of wildlife mortality due to drowning in canals is likely related to the speed of water flow; the height, gradient, and surface of canal embankments; and species-specific traits (Ament et al., 2021). Less is known about the impacts of canals versus roads; however, there is a clear overlap in many of the impacts and mitigation measures of roads and railways that can also be applied to canals (Ament et al., 2021). The density of canal networks on the landscape is relatively low; however, when combined with other LTI on the landscape, canals create additional barriers to Asian elephant movement and further fragment habitat. Near India's Rajaji National Park, an irrigation and hydroelectric canal has restricted access to the river Ganges, which elephants visit for drinking, bathing, and cooling off in the hotter months (Singh and Sharma, 2001). The mitigation measures offered in this handbook are tailored more specifically to roads and railways; however, many lessons may apply to the mitigation of canals for conservation practitioners and development officials.

3. The Mitigating Role of Wildlife Crossing Structures

Projects designed to promote landscape connectivity and permeability for wildlife as well as to reduce LTI-related wildlife mortality, have increased internationally—including in Asia—in the past decade, (ADB, 2019; Ament et al., 2021; Rajvanshi & Mathur, 2015; Wang et al., 2015) especially those benefiting Asian elephants (Chogyel et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2009; PLANMalaysia, 2022; Wang et al., 2015). Growing experience and research underscore the technical and economic feasibility of mitigation measures and management activities to effectively reduce the impact of LTI on wildlife (Andrews et al., 2015; Barrueto et al., 2014; van der Ree et al., 2015).

Wildlife crossing structures are typically the cornerstone of successful strategies to minimise the impact of roads and railways on wildlife. Crossing structures have proven highly effective in promoting grade-separated passage for numerous wildlife species, where animals cross above or below LTI (Bissonette & Cramer, 2008; Clevenger & Waltho, 2003). When used together with wildlife fencing, wildlife crossing structures dramatically reduce the incidence of wildlife mortality by as much as 98% (Clevenger et al., 2001; Gagnon et al., 2015). Many studies point to the benefit of well-spaced wildlife crossing structures (Bissonette & Adair, 2008; van der Ree et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2017) in promoting highway permeability; permeability increased as much as 1,367% for wild desert bighorn sheep (*Ovis canadensis*) after crossing structures were constructed (Gangon et al., 2017). Improved permeability increases landscape connectivity, yielding benefits at the wildlife population level (van der Ree et al., 2015) and promoting genetic interchange within heretofore genetically isolated subpopulations (Sawaya et al., 2013).

The efficacy of crossing structures in promoting permeability across LTI relates in part to the fact that traffic volume has a minimal effect when animals move through below- and above-grade crossing structures, especially compared to when animals attempt to cross the roadway at grade and are repelled or killed by traffic (Gagnon et al., 2007, 2017). Researchers have quantified the economic cost of wildlife-vehicle collisions (WVCs) and found that, in general, when crash rates exceed relatively low levels, the installation and maintenance of mitigation measures can be economically justifiable (Ament et al., 2022).



Elephants crossing a road in Thailand with spectators looking on. | SUPHISIT JITVIJAK

4. Handbook Objectives

While the AsETWG's first publication (Ament et al., 2021) provided an overview of available LTI mitigation measures, this handbook provides specific recommendations and design criteria for Asian elephant-specific crossing structures and additional mitigation measures, as well as guidance for data-driven determination of locations for such mitigations to address LTI impacts to elephants. This handbook benefits from the growing experience with elephant mitigation applications in Asia that have accelerated in the past decade. The handbook's recommendations and guidelines thus reflect current best practices, recognising that they are continuously evolving, driven by technological advancements and lessons learned from post-construction monitoring.

This handbook's specific objectives include detailing the following:

- 1. wildlife crossing structure types and applications,
- 2. best-practice design criteria for effective elephant crossing structures,
- 3. elephant crossing structure site selection methodologies,
- 4. role of fencing in promoting effective elephant crossing structures,
- 5. mitigations appropriate for low-traffic and low-speed roads, and
- 6. new/emerging technologies as LTI mitigations.

The earliest and most comprehensive wildlife crossing planning and guidance documents were the COST 341 European Manual for Designing Solutions to Wildlife Habitat Fragmentation (Bekker et al., 2003) and North America's Wildlife Crossing Structure Handbook (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011). While these documents and their guidance remain pertinent today for all wildlife, neither provided guidance specifically related to Asian elephants.

The first comprehensive efforts at Asian wildlife crossing guidance were the Wildlife Institute of India's environmental guidelines for India and South Asia (Rajvanshi et al., 2001) and Eco-friendly Measures to Mitigate Impacts of Linear Infrastructure on Wildlife (WII, 2016). These were followed by the Asian Development Bank's green infrastructure design report (ADB, 2019) and Nepal's Wildlife-friendly Infrastructure Construction Directives (Government of Nepal, 2022). Though all provided Asian elephant crossing structure guidance and design recommendations, they largely preceded the growing body of empirical examples of wildlife crossings, especially underpasses, specific to elephants. The refinement of Asian elephant crossing structure design guidelines relies on sound monitoring of completed projects (Wang et al., 2015, 2022; Chogyel et al., 2018; Chogyel, 2022) and the understanding that Asian elephant passage best practices will continue to evolve as more projects are implemented and monitored for success. The AsETWG has drawn heavily on expertise from the IUCN SCC Asian Elephant Specialist Group and available post-construction mitigation measure monitoring reports to present best practices for siting and designing Asian elephant measures to address LTI impacts.



A bull crosses a roadway.

5. Asian Elephant Crossing Structure Types and Design Considerations

The AsETWG's first publication (Ament et al., 2021) established a consistent nomenclature for Asian elephant wildlife crossing structures, especially with the diversity of design types and applications. Wildlife crossing structures are classified as underpasses providing below-LTI-grade passage or overpasses that provide above-LTI-grade passage (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011; Smith et al., 2015). Each passage type has a range of applications, design variations, and preferences in use by various wildlife taxa (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011; Van der Ree et al., 2015).

Underpasses encompass four broad subcategories that mirror generally accepted engineering design types:

• **Minor bridge underpasses** (Figure 5) are girder bridges typically less than 30 m wide and include arch structures and large reinforced concrete box culverts (RCBC). Though they are often designed for wildlife passage, they may also function as dual-use drainage structures. They are most effective when constructed along established travel corridors within drainages (Pan et al., 2009).

• **Major bridge underpasses** (Figure 6) are wider, often multi-span bridges with spans exceeding 30 m but less than 120 m. They are often designed explicitly for elephant and other wildlife passage but may also span rivers, streams, and wetland areas. Their large size makes them especially effective as crossing structures for Asian elephants and other wildlife.

• Long-span bridges (Figure 7) are structures with spans exceeding 120 m that typically span rivers. Typically, they are not designed for wildlife passage. However, their size allows them to accommodate elephant use alongside river and stream areas, especially where dense vegetation exists, and passage is not blocked by steep terrain or obstructions.



Figure 5. Minor bridge arch underpass in Bhutan.



Figure 6. Major bridge underpass in China.



Figure 7. Long-span bridge in Nepal.

Viaducts and flyovers are elevated roadways and railways, sometimes for extended lengths, under which animals can freely cross. Though the distinction between the two can be subtle, viaducts typically are designed to protect sensitive habitats such as wetlands, while flyovers are often extended above ground to accommodate unrestricted wildlife passage.

- Viaducts (Figure 8) typically are not designed specifically for wildlife passage (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011), but the sensitive habitats they protect allow for the maintenance of wildlife movement and adjacent habitats. As such, they are highly effective wildlife passages due to their large size, high clearance, and the degree of openness they afford for approaching and crossing animals.
- Flyovers (Figure 9) are extended (up to 10 km), elevated roadways passing over a variety of habitats. Increasingly used in India and now proposed in Nepal, these structures are specifically designed and constructed for elephant and tiger passage within protected areas. Flyovers and viaducts provide animals with many crossing options and do not require costly wildlife funnel fencing to be effective.

Overpasses fall within one of two subcategories:

- Bridged (engineered) overpasses (Figure 10) include girder, arch, and RCBC structures designed for wildlife passage and linking ridgeline travel corridors at cut slopes and embankment areas. Asia's first multi-species overpass within elephant range is a pair of extended arch structures spanning Highway 304 in Thailand, linking two national parks. The first overpass specifically designed for elephants was just completed in Bangladesh, a 50-metrewide, 10-metre-long RCBC for trains to pass through.
- Natural overpasses (Figure 11) are tunnels through mountainsides and ridges through which vehicles or trains pass. In China, natural overpasses (up to 765 m long) have been created by tunnelling, allowing elephants to pass over highways through undisturbed habitats. Preliminary monitoring indicates that elephants frequently use these natural overpasses in addition to underpasses (Guan et al., 2020).



Figure 8. Viaduct for elephants in China.



Figure 9. Flyover on National Highway 54E in India.



Figure 10. Engineered overpass in Thailand.



Figure 11. Natural overpass examples from China.

6. Criteria for Designing Effective Elephant Crossing Structures

Several criteria must be considered when designing effective crossing structures for Asian elephants, for which an overview is provided here with detailed information in the following sections. The siting of crossing structures is equally crucial as structure selection and will be discussed in a subsequent section. Criteria for selecting an effective crossing structure design include:

- 1. Structure type,
- 2. Structure size and openness,
- 3. Approaches to structure, and
- 4. Structure spacing and site selection.

6.1. Structure Type

Of the many factors influencing the selection of structure type for wildlife species, two are particularly important in determining whether an overpass or underpass may be better suited for providing Asian elephant passage across LTI: (1) terrain and (2) species preference. In the past, the cost differential between overpasses and underpasses was also a primary determinant. However, with the application of increasingly cost-effective overpass designs (Brennan et al., 2022), including transportable prefabricated concrete and metal-plate arches, this is no longer a consideration that rules out overpasses.

The terrain at a crossing or corridor/linkage site where an elephant crossing structure is warranted is a vital consideration for the best-suited structure type. For example, canyon and drainage situations where elephants often travel (Pan et al., 2009; Chogyel et al., 2017) are well suited to underpass applications that accommodate below-grade passage. Conversely, situations where LTI traverse deep-cut slopes or lie between continuous ridgelines upon which elephants regularly travel, are potentially suited for an overpass; in such situations, the need for fill material to create suitable approaches is minimised. Even in selected passage sites where flatter terrain does not support a drainage-related underpass or a ridge-to-ridge overpass, the option exists to consider either a flyover underpass or an overpass with backfilled approach slopes; this points to the utility of having a range of potential applications available to fit any particular site.

Whereas some wildlife species strongly prefer overpasses over underpasses (Barrueto et al., 2014; Gagnon et al., 2017), no such preference has been registered for Asian elephants. Singh and Chalisgaonkar (2006), Rajvanshi and Mathur (2015), and the Wildlife Institute of India (2016) all recommended and supported the application of both underpasses and overpasses for Asian elephants. The fact that Asian elephants will readily use well-designed and appropriately located (e.g., along established trails) underpasses is now well established (e.g., Wang et al., 2015; Chogyel et al., 2017), though there may be a multi-year "learning curve" associated with elephant use (Pan et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2015). While the first Asian overpass applications have only recently been implemented and success for elephants has yet to be established, Asian elephants have been documented crossing narrow bridges over canals in India (Joshi et al., 2008), suggesting they should readily use properly sized and vegetated overpasses.

6.2. Structure Size and Openness

Being the largest land mammal in Asia with a height of up to 3.5 m underscores the importance of designing appropriately sized crossing structures for Asian elephants. Their large body size and concerns that they are often hesitant to enter and cross through confining passages (Singh & Sharma, 2001) warrant large underpasses that are wider and higher than those for all other species. Though elephants have been recorded utilising underpasses less than 5 m in Bhutan, especially males (Chogyel, 2022), higher underpasses are warranted to ensure consistent use by all sexes, especially given the high investment cost with structures. A study from Tsavo, Kenya, also identifies higher structures with higher crossing rates of African elephants (Koskei et al., 2022). Additionally, underpasses designed for elephant use will accommodate passage for a wide variety of other species (Lala et al., 2022).

Bridged underpass width and length through structures are also important in determining their efficacy in facilitating elephant passage. The relationship between dimensions can be assessed using an openness index (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011) with the formula (metric units only):

3 HANDBOOK TO MITIGATE THE IMPACTS OF ROADS AND RAILWAYS ON ASIAN ELEPHANTS

Openness Index = Height x Width Length

While acknowledging its limitations and the influence of other important underpass factors, such as acoustics (Jacobson, 2007; Clevenger & Huijser, 2011), this metric is a useful comparative design tool to evaluate underpass dimensions. Gordon and Anderson (2003) conducted a rigorous experimental evaluation of openness indices and found that mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*) use was influenced more by underpass width than height, given constant length. Underpass openness influences the amount of light penetrating the structure's interior and the corresponding view of the opposite side that elephants perceive. The cross-sectional area of the opening is greatly influenced by distance (length) through the structure (Clevenger & Huijser, 2011). Underpasses with inadequate openness can be confining to Asian elephants and limit effectiveness (Singh et al., 2011).

Longer underpasses may require wider and higher dimensions to maintain similar openness as shorter underpasses. For example, an elephant underpass (15 m wide \times 6 m high) with a 15 m length under a narrow 2-lane road would have an openness index of 6.0. For a similar underpass crossing under a divided 4-lane highway with a 30 m length, the openness index would be 3.0; the underpass width would need to be increased to 30 m to maintain the same 6.0 openness index (see Figure 12). This points to the utility of the index in comparing underpass sizes under different LTI scenarios.



Figure 12. Openness Index visualisation illustrating the impact of length through underpasses with the similar height and width dimensions on perceived openness to elephants.

For overpasses, the critical dimension is the width; like underpasses, the longer the span of the overpass, the wider it should be. Minimum width recommendations for Asian elephant overpasses have consistently been between 50 m (Singh & Sharma, 2001; Rajvanshi et al., 2001) and 60 m (Singh & Chalisgaonkar, 2006).

6.3. Crossing Structure Approaches

While often overlooked, elephants' approaches to travel to and through underpasses and across overpasses are critical in achieving effective crossing structure use. Elephant use of appropriately sized and well-designed structures can be diminished or even eliminated with approaches that block passage or do not offer clear line-of-sight visibility through or across structures. The view through underpasses should remain as unimpeded as possible, and elephants should be able to see daylight through underpasses from the opposite side when approaching during daytime. Preferably, bridge abutments and side walls, including excavated soil embankments, should flare outward from underpass openings at 45 degrees or greater angles. Creating enticing, wide, and open underpass approaches to structures that enhance visibility can minimise the perception of being confined. Extended viaducts and flyovers provide elephants with more options to approach and cross under the structures where they are comfortable. For overpasses, approaches refer to the typically filled areas on either side of the overpass structure, recognising that the soil atop overpasses is typically shallower and revegetated differently than the approaches. Nonetheless, even overpasses should maintain good line-of-sight visibility to create a seamless habitat conducive to elephant passage.

While long-span bridges are wide, the streams and rivers they span may limit passage opportunities for elephants; further, areas adjacent to bridge abutments often have steep side slopes that are not conducive to elephant passage. Creating flat passage lanes under bridges near abutments where elephants are afforded some protective cover can enhance passage under large bridges.

Approach and crossing structure substrates can affect passage effectiveness. Natural soil or earthen floor substrates are preferred over concrete within crossing structures. Extensive rock rip-rap should be avoided, especially larger boulders often used to address drainage and erosion issues; these can negate passage benefits for elephants associated with otherwise suitable structures.

Where overpasses are not situated between cut slopes or ridges and require backfilled approach slopes, the steepness of the slopes on each side of the overpass structure is a critical consideration. Ideal approach slopes are relatively gentle, though they impact habitat a greater distance outward from the structure and add cost to the structure. Gentle 8:1 (run to rise) slopes were recommended for Asian elephants by Rajvanshi et al. (2001), though somewhat steeper slopes (6:1) have proven effective for use by other wildlife species (see Figure 13).



Figure 13. Approach slope visualisation of different backfill slopes approaching overpassess.

6.4. Crossing Structure Spacing and Placement

The spacing and placement of crossing structures required to accommodate Asian elephant passage effectively is an important consideration for LTI projects, and several factors must be considered. First and foremost, wildlife species' size and relative mobility are primary factors. To guide the objective determination of crossing structure spacing along LTI, Bissonette and Adair (2008) recommended spacing based on allometric scaling of home ranges as a metric of their mobility. Allometric scaling references how different biological characteristics of organisms change at different rates as they grow. In the context of LTI projects, this concept is extended to understand how the size and mobility of wildlife species, like Asian elephants, influence their home ranges and, consequently, their movement patterns. While limited by the key assumption of homogeneous animal distributions across landscapes, their spacing guidance promotes adequate LTI permeability to maintain landscape connectivity.

In the case of Asian elephants, which have extensive home ranges (e.g., 184-500 km2; Baskaran et al., 2018, Williams et al., 2008, ADB, 2019), the spacing guidance between structures is 13.6 km (ADB, 2019). However, this spacing does not adequately reflect other factors resulting in non-homogeneous Asian elephant distribution adjacent to LTI projects, including proximity to important habitats, travel corridors, and other factors.

New and existing data should also be incorporated into planning decisions to ensure structures are being placed in frequently utilised crossing points or elephant movement corridors. This is discussed further in the Methodologies for Asian Elephant Crossing Structure Site Selection section. Underscoring how the above factors can influence actual elephant crossing structure spacing, Dodd and Imran (2018) recommended two underpasses and an overpass within a 2 km section of the total 5.3 km of wildlife sanctuary core zone habitat through which a new railway crosses in southeast Bangladesh. This 1.0-km spacing reflects intensive seasonal sign surveys and camera trapping conducted along the alignment that documented consistent heavy yearlong use. Likewise, in South Yunnan, China, two expressways crossing Asian elephant critical habitats exhibit spacing < 1 km between wildlife crossing structures based on documented elephant corridors: 0.95 km spacing between 17 structures on the Silan Expressway and 0.53 km spacing between 25 structures on the Sixiao Expressway (Wang et al., 2015).



A wild male Asian elephant captured for translocation was eventually collared with a GPS satellite tracker to monitor his movement in Peninsular Malaysia. | MANAGEMENT & ECOLOGY OF MALAYSIAN ELEPHANTS (MEME)

7. Best Practice Design Guidelines for Elephant Crossing Structures

This section details the AsETWG's best-practice design criteria and recommendations for measures to mitigate the impact of LTI on Asian elephants and other wildlife. Recommendations are presented as minimums to ensure effectiveness, recognising that the minimum dimensions may be challenging enough to achieve in many cases. However, the larger the structure, the more likely it is to be readily and successfully used by elephants. Recommendations below are a starting point for LTI mitigation; structures should be context-sensitive and will require the consultation of experts.

For consistency, we employ terminology for design criteria dimensions mirroring that used in calculating openness indices (Figure 14): height (vertical head space below structure), width (distance across structure parallel to LTI), and length (distance for animals to cross through structure perpendicular to LTI). Separate guidelines and recommendations are provided for each crossing structure type and other considerations for ensuring the effectiveness of crossing structures.



Figure 14. Crossing structure terminology illustrating structure dimensions.

7.1. Underpasses

7.1.1. Minor Bridge Underpasses (< 30 m width)

While other below-grade passage designs, such as larger major bridge underpasses, viaducts, and flyovers, can be more effective at promoting Asian elephant passage, minor bridged underpasses have been and will continue to be a vital option used in LTI across Asia. Minor bridged underpasses often have a dual-use function in addressing drainage needs associated with streams and wildlife passage, making them cost-effective. Bridged underpasses can reflect a wide array and diversity of designs and applications. Single-span girder bridges (Figure 15) can serve as highly effective elephant passages along stream courses that elephants use as movement corridors. However, adequate accommodation for elephant passage must be provided with abutment treatments (e.g., side slopes) that can otherwise force elephants into streams or limit openness; in these situations, vertical abutments are preferred.



Figure 15. Single-span girder minor bridges that serve as Asian elephant underpasses, including a highway bridge in Nepal (left) and a railway bridge in Bangladesh (right), both under construction.

Divided highways with separate bridges for directional vehicular travel can increase the length that elephants must negotiate through structures, reduce openness, and contribute to a tunnel effect that deters successful passage. In addition to enlarging bridges, open atria between bridges (right) can reduce the tunnel effect and increase perceived openness for elephants. If bridges can be separated adequately (e.g., >30 m), each can be considered separately in evaluating openness and affording better passage accommodation. Keeping the central area natural is vital to attract elephants to use this kind of crossing structure. Suggested protective measures can be used here, such as noise walls, vegetation restoration, design of water system, and closure to human activity, etc.

Despite underpass width often being considered more important than height in influencing use by some species

Figure 16. Example of open atria between bridges.

(Gordon & Anderson, 2003; Brennan et al., 2022), underpass height is an especially critical consideration for elephants due to their large body size that can exceed 3.5 m at the shoulder. Existing Asian guidelines call for a minimum height for elephant underpasses associated with narrow transport infrastructure (<20 m length) of 5.5 m (ADB, 2019) to 6.5 m (Government of Nepal,2022), and 6.5 m for wider transport infrastructure (ADB, 2019; Government of Nepal, 2022). Recent monitoring of underpasses along a narrow 9.9 m wide road in southern Bhutan (Chogyel, 2022) found comparable Asian elephant use of a 4.7 m high underpass (Figure 17) to use of two underpasses just over 6 m in height. In Bangladesh, the design height and width of a 10 m wide × 5 m high concrete box culvert elephant underpass along a new railway were limited by the fixed railway grade (Figure 17). Yet elephants used the underpass soon after completion without fencing (under construction); the narrow width of the railway and thus underpass length of 6.9 m appear to help offset the height and width limitation. These examples illustrate that for narrow transport infrastructure (<10 m wide), underpasses with heights less than 6.5 m, while not ideal, can be effective where conditions do not permit greater heights.



Figure 17. A 6.2 m wide x 4.7 m high underpass on Bhutan NH2 used by Asian elephants (left); reinforced concrete box culvert Asian elephant underpass (10 m wide × 5 m high × 6.9 m long) along a railway in southeast Bangladesh (right). NORRIS DODD

Some of the best information to support higher wildlife crossing heights is provided for African savannah elephants (*Loxodonta africana*) from a 133 km Kenyan railway with 41 crossings that included large bridges, wide wildlife underpasses (average width 67.5 m), and culverts averaging just 5.6 m in width (Koskei et al., 2022). They found that higher elephant crossing rates were associated with higher structure heights, and that height had its greatest influence on crossing at underpasses and culverts; few elephant crossings occurred at structures less than 5 m high. Their modeling found that each additional 1 m in height increased predicted elephant crossings 168% for culverts and 364% for underpasses.

It is important to stress that the recommendations in this handbook represent minimums, and increased dimensions are recommended where possible.

AsETWG Minor Bridge Underpass Guidelines

While the adage "bigger is better" certainly applies to Asian elephant underpasses, real-world limitations, including budget and design limitations, can influence underpass design. Our guidelines provide a sliding scale of minimum underpass dimensions based on three classes of LTI design length (Table III-1). For narrow 2-lane highways or railways less than 10 m in length and where higher underpasses are impossible due to design constraints, 6.0 m heights and 12.0 m (unobstructed) width is recommended. Increasingly greater heights are recommended for increasingly wider LTI (Table 1).

Table 1. AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for minor bridge underpasses up to 30 m in width by underpass length across transport infrastructure.

Undernass length across	Minimum underpass dimensions		
LTI (m)	Width (m)	Height (m)	Openness index
≤10	12.0	6.0	7.2
11-20	15.0	6.5	4.9 – 8.9
>20	20.0	7.0	4.7 - 6.7

Prefabricated metal plates and concrete arches (Figure 18) present rapid construction options and are especially well suited to retrofit applications on existing LTI. Up to 13.5 m wide metal-plate arches are transportable to remote locations for assembly and are a cost-effective option; construction costs for three metal-plate arch underpasses in Bhutan (average dimensions 10 m wide \times 6.4 m high \times 9.9 m long) averaged USD 490,000 (Chogyel, 2022).



Figure 18. Metal-plate arch underpass in southern Bhutan (left); underpass being erected (right).

7.1.2. Major Bridge Underpasses (>30 m and <120 m width)

Major bridge underpasses are between 30 and 120 m in width, typically associated with multi-span structures. Major bridge applications accommodating Asian elephant passage have been made where passage is the primary purpose or as cost-effective dual-use structures associated with streams and smaller rivers (Figure 19). Koskei et al. (2022) found that of the 41 African elephant crossings they evaluated, bridges provided the most effective crossings compared to underpasses and culverts and were used disproportionately by elephants for crossing a railway.

The most intensive project where elephant passage guided a major bridge underpass design is the Sixiao Expressway in South Yunnan, China, which passes through a biodiversity-rich national nature reserve. Seventeen major bridge underpasses were constructed in 2003-2006 (Figure 19). These underpasses average 66.6 m in width (range = 40-120 m) and 11.9 m high (range = 5-30 m). All underpasses were located where historical elephant movement corridors intersect the expressway; as such, the elephant passage rate has steadily increased since construction and now averages 84% (Wang et al., 2015).



Figure 19. Major bridge underpass designed specifically for Asian elephant passage along the Sixiao Expressway in South Yunnan, China (left); dual-use structure spanning a river in southern Nepal (right).

AsETWG Major Bridge Underpass Guidelines

As all major bridge underpasses are sufficiently wide to promote Asian elephant passage, the AsETWG guidelines only cover underpass height. And because it is unlikely that such bridges will be associated with narrow LTI <10 m across often associated with minor bridge underpasses, we offer guidelines for two LTI length classes; <20 m and >20 m (Table 2).

Table 2. AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for bridged underpasses up to 30 m in width by underpass length across transport infrastructure.

Underpass length across	Minimum underpass dimensions		
LTI (m)	Width (m)	Height (m)	
<20	30	6.5	
>20	30	7.0	

7.1.3. Long-Span Bridges (>120 m width)

Long-span bridges exceeding 120 m in width generally are associated with rivers, though their large size does accommodate Asian elephants and other wildlife passage (Koskei et al., 2022). Often, such bridges' open floodplain portions are unsuitable for elephant conveyance, with elephants using the relatively narrow vegetated area between the bridge abutments and the riverbanks for crossing (Figure 20). As such, such areas must remain free of obstructions, roads, and human trails. Further, vegetated and relatively flat passage pathways for elephants can facilitate conveyance. Wildlife mitigations planned for an upgraded road in southern Nepal include creating flat, obstruction-free passage lanes (terraces) 10-12 m wide under either side of 12 existing long-span bridges (12) to enhance elephant passage (Dodd et al., 2022).

In some cases, elephant passage has been a design consideration for long-span bridges. According to Kasmuri et al. (2020), 11 long-span bridge underpasses were constructed in 2014 along the Malaysian Central Spine highway project. These underpasses range in width from 150 to 350 m, averaging 227 m.



Figure 20. Long-span bridge in southern Nepal where obstructions and human impacts limit Asian elephant passage under the bridge. | NORRIS DODD

AsETWG Long-Span Bridged Guidelines

In addition to creating 10-12 m wide flat, obstruction-free passage lanes adjacent to bridge abutments, minimum bridge heights should follow those in Table 2.

7.2. Viaducts and Flyovers

Extended sections of elevated roadways are increasingly being constructed to promote Asian elephant passage, with major projects completed in China, India, and Malaysia. On China's Silan Expressway, 15 viaducts were built expressly for Asian elephants (Figure 21) ranging in roadway length of 100 to 620 m (average = 317.0 m) and 5 to 48 m in height (average 30.0 m). Viaducts (3 each) on two of Malaysia's highways ranged in roadway length from 80 to 900 m (figure 22), averaging 310.0 m (Kasmuri et al., 2020). Some of India's first three flyovers constructed in Rajaji Tiger Reserve and designed for both tigers and elephants, range in roadway length from 400 to 736 m and average 545.0 m (WII, 2016).

WII (2016) characterised elevated LTI on pillars as "the best solution in elephant landscapes". Though flyovers/viaducts are relatively costly, the cost becomes more acceptable when considering a flyover can span the length of LTI where bridged underpasses have been spaced as close as 0.5 km apart (Wang et al., 2015). Further, elevated LTI eliminates the need for costly fencing and associated long-term maintenance.

AsETWG Viaduct/Flyover Guidelines

As with bridge underpasses, flyover/viaduct height is a critical design consideration. WII (2016) recommended a minimum 8 m height below elevated LTI. While 8 m height may be adequate for elephant passage, with the high cost associated with flyovers and viaducts, the ASETWG recommends 10 m clearance height to ensure effectiveness for passing elephants.



Figure 21. Viaduct constructed in China.



Figure 22. An elephant at the viaduct in Malaysia.

7.3. Overpasses

7.3.1. Engineered Overpasses

The application of engineered wildlife overpasses has increased considerably elsewhere in the world in the past two decades. However, outside of South Korea, where many small wildlife overpasses have been constructed (half of their 56 overpasses had widths <7 m, and just 14% were >50 m wide (Woo et al., 2018), the rest of Asia has just recently begun to construct overpasses. The first overpass in Southeast Asia was constructed in Singapore (50 m width) primarily for small animal passage. In northwest China, several overpasses have been built for ungulate crossings of LTI, with their widths all exceeding 50 m; preliminary monitoring indicates ungulates are using the overpasses frequently (Wang et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2019).

Asia's first overpass constructed within elephant range includes a pair of extended precast arch structures, one 0.17 km long and the other 0.25 km long, spanning Highway 304 in Thailand, with revegetation atop the structures (Figure 23). Twin 16 m arches span the four-lane highway to create tunnels for vehicle conveyance. This multi-species overpass, linking two national parks, was completed in 2019, and subsequent monitoring has not reported Asian elephant usage. Camera trapping at the site before construction also did not detect elephants which appear to reside further into the national park cores (Sukmasuang et al., 2020). The overpass structures have relatively steep (3:1) approach slopes that are not considered ideal for elephant passage.

In southeastern Bangladesh, a 7 m long \times 9.5 m high x 50 m wide RCBC serves as tunnel for trains with backfilling to restore the ridgeline elephant travel corridor (Figure 24). Construction lasted 2.5 years, disrupting elephant use of the corridor, though elephants began using the completed overpass within a month, dispelling concerns over permanent disruption. Integration of concrete elephant fence and revegetation of the backfilled approaches is now complete.



Figure 23. Highway 304 wildlife overpass in Thailand comprised of two twin 16 m precast arches extending 0.17 and 0.25 km spanning the highway. I ITALIAN-THAI DEVELOPMENT PLC





Figure 24. Newly constructed elephant overpass spanning a new railway line in southeastern Bangladesh (top left); with backfilling around the structure (top right); to reconnect the excavated elephant travel corridor along the ridgeline (bottom). | TOP: NORRIS DODD | BOTTOM: BANGLADESH RAILWAY Historically, overpasses have been considered more costly than underpasses. However, recent engineering developments and new design options have dramatically reduced their costs, making them more comparable to underpasses (McGuire et al., 2020), especially with their utility in accommodating passage for a wider array of species (Brennan et al., 2022). Engineered overpass structures can be positioned between large cut slopes or tied into terrain features to reduce costs and improve effectiveness by providing continuity along preferred ridgeline animal travel routes. They can also be constructed on flat terrain with gentle approach slopes. Overpass designs can accommodate a range of sizes and include girder bridges, arches, and even large RCBCs. Like underpasses, overpasses are increasingly being constructed with prefabricated concrete and metal-plate arch "buried" structure designs (Figure 25) that further reduce cost and increase transportability (McGuire et al., 2021, Brennan et al., 2022).





Figure 25. Overpass design types, including girder bridge (top left); concrete arch (top right); retrofit metal-plate arch on an existing highway (bottom). All examples from the USA. TOP LEFT, TOP RIGHT: NORRIS DODD BOTTOM: CONTECH ENGINEERED SOLUTIONS

Clevenger and Huijser (2011) recommended 50-70 m wide overpasses to accommodate large, high mobility mammal species such as elephants; the longer the overpass span and length with approach slopes, the wider it should be. Luell et al. (2003) recommended that overpass width-to-length ratios (W:L) should be 0.8 or higher, reflecting the notion that wider widths should accompany longer lengths. Singh and Sharma (2001) and Rajvanshi et al. (2001) made recommendations for Asian elephant-specific overpass dimensions, both with 50 m widths, while Singh and Chalisgaonkar (2006) recommend 60 m widths. The arch overpass structures constructed in Thailand are 0.17 and 0.25 km wide though approach slopes are quite steep. The elephant overpass in Bangladesh is 50 m in width over the narrow railway tunnel created by the RCBC, with near-level backfilled approach slopes extending outward 30 m (60 m total length). Singh and Chalisgaonkar (2006) recommended side walls 2.5-2.75 m in height to guide crossing elephants and buffer them from disturbance, light, and noise from below.

Brennan et al. (2022) conducted a comprehensive structural assessment of 120 overpasses worldwide, excluding European land bridges or eco-bridges with widths > 80 m. They also compared wildlife passage effectiveness to width dimensions and W:L ratios. They stressed the importance of using consistent measurement of overpasses to make such comparisons. They recommend using inner widths between side walls at overpass centres (especially for hourglass-shaped decks) and lengths that encompass landscaped approach ramps extending outward from structures. Brennan et al. (2022) found that overpass widths averaged 34 m, lengths 103 m, and W:L ratios 0.58. Overpass width and W:L ratio were positively associated with wildlife crossing rates though not significantly so, and wider (40-60 m) overpasses in North America exhibited twice the crossing rates and greater diversity of wildlife species than smaller overpasses. They concluded that overpasses >50 m wide represent a cost-effective approach to addressing LTI impacts and promoting effective passage for wildlife.

AsETWG Engineered Overpass Guidelines

Overpass Width: Recognising that overpass widths should reflect the span length over which they cross LTI, the AsETWG guidelines provide a sliding scale of minimum overpass widths based on three classes of total overpass length, including landscaped approach slopes (Table 3). For narrow 2-lane highways or railways with total overpass lengths less than 60 m, a minimum 50 m width is acceptable; wider overpasses are recommended for longer lengths over LTI (Table 3).

Table 3. AsETWG sliding-scale guidelines for engineered overpasses by total overpass length across transport infrastructure, including landscaped approach slopes.

Overpass length including approach slopes (m)	Minimum overpass width (m)	Width: Length Ratio
≤60	50	≥0.83
61-80	60	≥0.75
>80	70	≥0.88

Side Walls and Other Treatments: While the 2.5-2.75 m overpass side wall heights recommended by Singh and Chalisgaonkar (2006) are ideal for funneling and buffering crossing elephants from traffic disturbance from below, the AsETWG feels that 1 m high side walls with durable fencing/barrier above are adequate to guide elephants across sufficiently wide overpasses. Other treatments, including earthen berms, trees or similar vegetation (e.g., bamboo) established along overpass edges, can provide more cost-effective and environmentally sensitive options to limit noise and light disturbance from LTI below. Sołowczuk (2020) provided comprehensive strategies for implementing overpass sound and light treatments, including the design and shape of sound walls, vegetation, and earthen berms to maximise effectiveness under various terrain and topographic conditions on adjacent approaches. The full revegetation of overpasses with native vegetation is strongly recommended, and thus sufficient (1 metre or deeper) soil depth is needed atop structures to establish vegetation effectively.

7.3.2 Natural Overpasses (Tunnels)

China has implemented multiple natural overpasses, of which three have been constructed along two expressways since 2006; natural overpasses are also under construction in India. Natural overpasses do not disrupt elephant travel corridors during construction and maintain natural vegetation. Three natural overpasses were constructed within established elephant corridors by tunneling along the Sixiao and Silan expressways in South Yunnan, China, completed in 2006 and 2020, respectively. On the Sixiao Expressway, the 765 m Elephant Valley Tunnel overpass received considerably higher use by elephants than the shorter 115 m Baihuashan Tunnel overpass (Figure 26) due to its sevenfold greater width and absence of nearby homes and other human disturbances. Key takeaways from monitoring include: 1) natural overpasses effectively promote elephant passage, 2) the longer the tunnel, the better, and 3) minimising human disturbances and maintaining natural habitats above tunnels underpin overpass success.



Figure 26. Aerial view of the 115 m wide Baihuashan Tunnel overpass, South Yunnan, China, with homes and buildings in the vicinity that limit effective elephant use of the overpass. | GOOGLE MAPS

AsETWG Natural Overpass Guidelines

Though costly to excavate, natural overpasses can provide superior (Wang et al., 2015) passage for Asian elephants as they maintain natural ecological corridors and vegetation without impact or disruption. Based on China's experience, natural overpasses should be constructed in areas not subject to human disturbances (homes and other buildings) that limit effective use.

8. Methodologies for Asian Elephant Crossing Structure Site Selection

A wide variety of methodologies can be utilised for optimal site selection of crossing structures. In addition to those mentioned below, Table 4 provides references for additional methodologies that may be useful for site selection as well as pre- and post-construction monitoring.

Table 4. Methods of measuring effectiveness of mitigating impacts of LTI from Ament et al., 2023.

Metric	Methods	Selected References
Roadkill rates	Surveys Encounter surveys Citizen science Review of existing databases	Gerow, et al., 2010 Guinard, et al., 2012 Lee et al., 2006
Wildlife use of crossing structures	Sign surveys Tracking beds (e.g., sand, snow, sooted track plates) Camera traps (with or without individual identification) Video cameras Passive integrated transponder (PIT) tags and automated readers	Gonzales-Gallina, 2018 Clevenger & Waltho, 2005 Clements, 2013 Soanes et al., 2013 Mateus et al., 2011 Wang et al., 2017
Animal movements and dispersal • • •	Animal tracking (e.g., radio, satellite, GPS, etc.) Species encounter rates (camera trapping without individual identification) Camera trapping with individual identification (dispersal) Movement/behavioural observation	Shephard et al., 2008 Colchero et al., 2011 Bautista et al., 2004
Genetic and demographic • connectivity •	Non-invasive sampling (hair snaring) Invasive samping to collect DNA	Sawaya et al., 2014 Balkenhol & Waits, 2009 Soanes et al., 2018
Species occurrence and • distribution (plants, animals)	Camera trapping, trapping, active searches Vegetation plots	Goosem, 2002 Herrmann et al., 2016
Animal population demographic • parameters	Capture-mark-recapture	Garland & Bradley, 1984 McCall et al., 2010

Asian elephants exhibit extensive ranging behaviour, occupying vast home ranges. Despite their far-ranging nature, they form social units that undergo dynamic fission and fusion processes. Consequently, their distribution often overlaps with other groups, and they tend to concentrate in regions abundant in critical resources. Yang et al. (2022) identified that 75.2% of Asian elephant core habitat exists outside designated protected areas. As such, the spacing of crossing structures must reflect non-homogeneous Asian elephant distribution adjacent to LTI projects influenced by these and other factors:

- seasonal and traditional congregation areas;
- proximity to critical resources such as wetlands, salt licks, and springs;
- travel corridors, trails, and seasonal migration routes; and
- impact of habitat fragmentation that concentrates elephants into residual suitable habitats.

In such areas with concentrations of elephant distribution, crossing structure spacing along LTI has ranged from 0.53 km (Wang et al., 2015) to 1.0 km in China and 1.0 km in Bangladesh (Dodd and Imran, 2018). Such spacing was predicated on data-driven determination and prioritisation of where crossings structures are warranted using a variety of methodologies described below.

8.1. Asian Elephant Connectivity and Corridor Plans

Where they exist, national or regional Asian elephant connectivity and corridor assessments can be invaluable in identifying priority sites for considering crossing structures to promote connectivity with existing LTI or in new LTI development where fragmentation avoidance is not possible. These assessments are beneficial when combined with other field-based data (e.g., sign and camera trapping). Large-scale corridor assessments typically link blocks of relatively intact habitat and protected areas (core areas) via corridors. These corridors are intended to maintain connectivity between the core areas or blocks to support wildlife movement and dispersal.

Crossing structures may be warranted where existing or planned LTI crosses identified corridors. India (Menon et al., 2017) and Bangladesh (Motaleb et al., 2016) have completed comprehensive corridor assessments, while Malaysia has identified and updated ecological corridors to preserve connectivity in the peninsular region (PlanMalaysia, 2022). The elephant corridors mapped in southeastern Bangladesh (Figure 27) were instrumental in considering crossing structures associated with a new railway. They were validated with seasonal sign surveys and camera trapping (Dodd and Imran, 2018).



Figure 27. Elephant linkage associated with the core zone of a Bangladesh wildlife sanctuary where corridors intersect two existing highways (dashed boxes). MOTALEB ET AL. (2016)

8.2. Sign Surveys

Asian elephant signs, including tracks, dung, trails, plant feeding, and crop damage, are apparent, unmistakable, and often abundant in high-use elephant concentration areas. Quantifying elephant signs constitutes a relatively quick and inexpensive approach to assessing and monitoring elephant presence and relative abundance. Sign surveys have been used to monitor elephant movements in Yunnan Province, China, to determine relative abundance (high/moderate/low/ absent), locate 42 crossing structures along two expressways, and monitor elephant use of the crossing structures. Due to the ease and straightforward process for conducting surveys, transport maintenance workers and volunteers have carried out dung counts with minimal labour requirements (1-2 people) and at low cost. Intensive and repeatable track and other sign count transects can provide excellent comparative information on elephant distribution and relative abundance (Dodd and Imran, 2018).

In Bangladesh, Dodd and Imran (2018) employed seasonal sign transect surveys along a proposed new railway corridor and qualified sign along transects using 0.25-ha circular plots. To estimate the relative age of elephant dung, piles were counted and classified by stages of decay (e.g., S1–S5; Hedges, 2012) to estimate freshness. This classification was intended to assist in the determination of how recently elephants had been in the area and to provide an indicator of resident versus seasonal elephant occupation. Tracks were estimated on plots with categories of sets of elephant tracks (e.g., 1, 2–5. 6–10, and >10). Established year-long movement corridors and trails were differentiated from seasonal trails used only for the raiding of crops. Elephant signs can persist for extended periods, especially during the dry season. However, tracks may become obliterated during the monsoon season, and seasonal and age-specific variation may affect the dung decay rate (Mohanarangan et al., 2022).



Figure 28. Asian elephant sign types, including slightly decayed dung pile (left); tracks through a new elephant underpass (centre); established elephant movement corridor/trail (right).

8.3. Camera Trapping

An increasingly popular approach for conducting wildlife studies involves the use of relatively affordable but high-quality infrared remote-triggered cameras (Meek et al., 2012; Si et al., 2014). These cameras have become the preferred method due to their cost-effectiveness and ability to capture excellent images. Camera trapping can be used to determine Asian elephant occupancy, relative abundance, animal behaviour, temporal activity patterns, and even identification of individual animals. Unlike sign counts or surveys, cameras can accurately estimate the number of elephants in groups. Camera batteries can last extended periods before needing to be switched out; SD storage cards can also be switched out simultaneously, though more frequent downloading is recommended to preserve data should camera theft occur. Cameras with uplink capabilities to remotely obtain data where cellular coverage is adequate are also becoming more widely available and affordable.

Dodd and Inram (2018) conducted camera trapping at all elephant trails and corridors along a proposed railway in Bangladesh to quantify elephant abundance and seasonal use to prioritise corridors for crossing structures. Presence and seasonal abundance of elephants and other wildlife were assessed with camera trapping at randomised locations across a wildlife sanctuary in southern Bhutan where a new road was proposed; sampling was stratified by habitat type (ADB, 2018).



Figure 29. Image of an Asian elephant recorded along an established corridor in Bangladesh where an overpass is being constructed.

8.4. Global Positioning System Telemetry

The application of satellite-based global positioning system (GPS) telemetry has increased steadily over the past two decades, becoming more prevalent and enabling ecologists to track and map out locations and movement of animals across time and space dimensions. The field of movement ecology is dedicated to examining how wildlife (individual or population) moves and interacts with environmental variables and their surrounding ecosystems, which may include the impact of anthropogenic activities, disturbances, and threats. Telemetry studies have helped interpret the size of wildlife's home ranges, migration patterns, and other information that contributes to understanding their spatial needs, social behaviour, and population ecology.

GPS telemetry can facilitate locating wildlife crossing structures in association with LTI projects (Dodd et al., 2007) and thus is considered the "gold standard" for informing data-driven recommendations. Data from GPS location fix can be mapped on top of existing or proposed LTI to determine spatial crossing patterns and peaks (Dodd et al., 2007), or in the case of species for which existing LTI are a severe barrier to the passage, patterns of approaches to within 0.25 km of LTI can be mapped (Dodd et al., 2011). The development of more powerful statistical tools has helped advance the analysis of wildlife movement ecology with the use of modelling approaches such as Resource Selection Functions (RSFs) and Step Selection Functions (SSFs) that examine environmental variables influencing the wildlife movement by comparing actual habitat use with unused area or random steps (Thurfjell et al., 2014). Furthermore, analysis of landscape connectivity employing least-cost path or circuit theory can help identify corridors important for connecting habitat patches and supporting safe passage for wildlife (de la Torre et al., 2019). GPS telemetry is effective for examining wild Asian elephant road or rail crossing behaviours by identifying road sections frequently used temporally by elephants for crossing and areas where roads are a barrier to passage (Wadey et al., 2018; Bastille-Rousseau et al., 2018).

GPS telemetry can be costly and requires considerable initial effort from various stakeholders to capture animals. However, once installed, GPS location fixes are collected frequently over two to five years (or longer), yielding thousands of fixes for individual animals. Data can be uploaded regularly to satellites and posted online for retrieval and analysis. Collars can be programmed to drop off from the animals for recovery and subsequent cost-effective collar refurbishing and reuse. Furthermore, using GPS telemetry minimises potential human disturbances that can bias animal behaviour and avoids the intensive effort of manually collecting VHF-based location data on tracked individuals (Cagnacci et al., 2010; Hebblewhite and Haydon, 2010).

The capture of elephants can require a team of five to eight people to handle them after safe tranquilising under set procedures (Daim, 1995). Several considerations ensure that the risks associated with capture are minimised, though accidental injury or death of elephant or staff can still occur.



Figure 30. Team handling and fitting of a male Asian elephant that was tranquilised with a GPS telemetry collar in Peninsular Malaysia.

MANAGEMENT & ECOLOGY OF MALAYSIAN ELEPHANTS (MEME)

Most Asian countries have cautiously embraced Asian elephant GPS telemetry. In Malaysia, more than 100 wild Asian elephants have been collared with Inmarsat or Iridium satellite GPS collars (Africa Wildlife Tracking, Pretoria, South Africa) programmed to record GPS locations at fixed intervals. GPS telemetry is especially useful in Malaysia as the terrain and dense tropical forest make direct observation of far-ranging elephants difficult.

In Assam, India, elephant telemetry (Figure 31) efforts have been ongoing since 2021 in an area north of the Brahmaputra River, where elephants travel between Nameri National Park and the Sonai Rupai Wildlife Sanctuary and use the cultivated spaces in between during harvest season. In tandem with camera trapping, telemetry has provided insights into how elephants move across railway tracks in the area. Further, GPS telemetry is helping to make a case for corridor designation for the Nameri-Sonai Rupai-Arimora Chapori (NSA) Corridor, which elephants have traditionally used to seasonally traverse between the Brahmaputra and the Himalayan foothills region of Assam (Figure 31). Where LTI intersects this corridor, crossing structures may be warranted as LTI is upgraded in the future.



Figure 31. Elephant fitted with GPS telemetry collar in Assam, India. \mid $_{\rm WWF-INDIA}$



Figure 32. Asian elephant GPS fixes for one elephant north of the Brahmaputra River in Assam, India (left); the proposed Nameri-Sonai Rupai-Arimora Chapori (NSA) Corridor supported by the telemetry data (right).

8.5. Elephant Collision Hotspots on LTI

Compiling information on locations of Asian elephant collisions with vehicles and trains along LTI can be invaluable in identifying where crossing structures and fencing may be warranted to prevent future collisions and ensure protection of Asian elephants and the safety of people travelling through these areas. Identifying locations where the animals turned back from crossing or managed to successfully cross the road is equally important, as these locations must also be considered when planning the location of mitigation measures (Zeller et al., 2020). A combination of camera trapping and GPS collaring can be employed to gain a comprehensive understanding of these critical crossing areas and elephant behaviour, especially as it relates to the speed and behavior exhibited when crossing roads and railways. By integrating data from these two methods, conservationists can pinpoint the most vulnerable locations and behaviours, allowing for the implementation of targeted interventions to reduce the likelihood of collisions and facilitate elephant movement across LTI.

8.6. Enhancing Habitat Near Crossing Structures

Habitat enhancements near wildlife crossing structures can help attract animals to the structures, thus helping establish and maintain use by elephants and other animals. Such enhancements include elephant forage and fodder planting, ensuring availability of water and artificial salt licks. When done at a sufficient scale, planting native vegetation can improve the quality and quantity of preferred forage species for elephants. Water developments and tank improvements can improve water availability and should ideally be sited near forage enhancements and salt licks. Mineral or salt licks are essential to various wildlife to supplement nutrients and salt deficiencies in their diet. Often with the ongoing expansion of roads, plantations and urban land development, some crucial natural salt licks are lost.

Habitat enhancements can be undertaken as LTI-project mitigation and compensation offsets as has been done on the Chittagong-Cox's Bazar Railway project in Bangladesh where they added 287 ha of forage plantings, six water developments, and six salt licks (Dodd and Imran 2017). These enhancements have proven effective in dramatically reducing human-elephant conflict in neighbouring villages. Similarly, to attract wildlife towards the viaducts and facilitate safe movement across roads, the Department of Wildlife and National Parks (PERHILITAN) in Peninsular Malaysia has created artificial salt licks near wildlife viaducts. Locating crossing structures or habitat enhancements, or both, near human settlement areas must be done carefully so as not to create or exacerbate human-elephant conflicts. Habitat enhancements may be appropriate following LTI projects when desired use of passage structures has not occurred, or conflicts with neighboring human settlement occur.





Figure 33. Asian elephant habitat enhancements accomplished in Bangladesh as railway construction compensation offsets, including water developments (top left); artificial salt licks (top right); preferred elephant forage and fodder enhancement plantings (bottom).

Artificial salt licks are created in various manners, ranging from recessed or raised concrete cribs to hold salt, molasses, and water as done in Bangladesh (Figure 34), or by digging pits 2-3 m long, 1.5-2 m wide, and 30-50 cm deep, as done in Malaysia. The pits are often saturated in water, forming wet-lick pools. Unlike "dry" licks, where wildlife consumes the mineral-rich soil, "wet" licks are typically small pools of salty water that wildlife drink (Simpson et al., 2020).



Figure 34. A male elephant using an artificial salt lick created near the Gerik Viaduct in Perak, Malaysia. | SALMAN SAABAN

8.7. Other Considerations When Locating and Designing Crossing Structures

Land Tenure Control

When making a substantial financial investment in constructing crossing structures, it is vital to consider a site's long-term land tenure, ownership, and control to maintain the structure's effectiveness over its design life. The most secure locations for structures are within protected areas (where avoidance of LTI development was not possible), which often coincide with high biodiversity. In many cases, human activity is minimal or not allowed within these areas, which enables safe and free movement of wildlife through structures, and authorities mandated with managing these areas are able to oversee their use. Outside of protected areas, the risk of land use changes (e.g., human development or forest clearing) occurring could diminish the effectiveness of crossing structures (depending on who has jurisdiction over the area and the ability to reduce disturbances) and must be evaluated.

In southern Bhutan, a once well-used elephant underpass located just outside a protected area experienced increased human presence and activities; elephants subsequently abandoned the use of the underpass and began crossing the highway, at grade, some distance away (Chogyel et al., 2018).

Illegal Resource Extraction and Poaching

In some cases, wildlife crossings may present opportunities for illegal harvesting of wildlife and other resources due to a combination of human access and concentrations of animals at crossings. A study to assess the effectiveness of the viaducts for wildlife passage was conducted by Clements (2013) in Peninsular Malaysia. Aside from detecting wildlife, the cameras captured almost ten times more detection of human activities at the viaduct underpasses compared to the surrounding forest, and a similar detection rate of human encroachers (i.e., illegal hunters and forest resource gatherers) at the viaducts and surrounding forests. In the surrounding forests, researchers found 125 encroachment camps and 131 snares for capturing wildlife predominantly near the road and 43 access trails emanating from the road (Clements et al., 2014).

The four-lane Aring-Kenyir Road (Federal Route 185) in Terengganu, Malaysia, was completed in 2008 and incorporated ten viaduct crossings and bridges spanning rivers and streams, with three viaducts designed explicitly for wildlife passage. The bridges have become popular fishing spots among locals. Established dirt roads provide access from the highway to beneath the viaducts (Figure 35). Despite the presence of humans, elephants utilise these viaducts. On a visit to the viaducts in October 2022, relatively fresh evidence of a recreational camp at one of the viaducts (Figure 35) with a burnt shell of a Malayan box turtle (*Cuora amboinensis*), listed as Vulnerable by the IUCN, in a campfire was noted.



Figure 35. Human activities under a wildlife viaduct in Tasik Kenyir off the Aring-Kenyir Road, Malaysia, including locals fishing under the viaduct (left); an established dirt road leading from the highway to the viaduct (right). MANAGEMENT & ECOLOGY OF MALAYSIAN ELEPHANTS (MEME)



Figure 36. Remnants of a recreational camp under a wildlife viaduct on the Aring-Kenyir Road, Malaysia. MANAGEMENT & ECOLOGY OF MALAYSIAN ELEPHANTS (MEME)

The presence of humans at the viaducts and crossing structures is concerning as it potentially deters wildlife from approaching the structures, thus undermining the investment to safeguard and promote wildlife connectivity in the area. There is evidence of wildlife sensitivity to human presence that temporarily alters their use of these areas to avoid humans (Lam, 2017). This potential impact reinforces the need for effective wildlife enforcement and measures to control or limit access off the highway to wildlife crossings. Incorporating the complexities of human encroachment is crucial for effective wildlife management. Recognizing the socio-economic realities and community needs is essential, as these factors often drive human presence near wildlife corridors. Therefore, while planning and implementing wildlife corridors, it is imperative that managers not only focus on ecological aspects but also engage empathetically with local communities, fostering coexistence and understanding of the shared landscape.

9. Role of Fencing in Promoting Effective Elephant Crossing Structures

Fencing is essential in promoting permeability across LTI, funneling animals to crossing structures where traffic has minimal impact (Gagnon et al., 2007; 2017). The importance of wildlife fencing when used in conjunction with crossing structures to reduce wildlife-vehicle collisions has been stressed by experts for decades (Forman et al., 2003; Rytwinski et al., 2016; van der Ree et al., 2015). However, Asian elephants pose a challenge as fencing can have limited deterrent effects and require substantial maintenance. Yet, as stressed by Pan et al. (2009), Chogyel et al. (2017) and Clevenger and Huijser (2011), locating crossing structures in established, natural elephant movement corridors can reduce the amount of fencing needed to funnel animals to passages.

Many barrier measures have been used in Asia with varying success, ranging from electrified fences to concrete ditches. Effectiveness is often a tradeoff between efficacy, cost, and maintenance requirements; effectiveness and durability (minimising maintenance) should be primary considerations in fence applications.

Low-cost electrified fence applications have been effective in preventing elephant access to crops but require constant maintenance to remain effective; an electric fence is most suited for limited crop-protection applications. One of the most prevalent barriers used in Asia to prevent elephant entry is rubble walls constructed of local stone from streams and rivers, with or without plaster. A comprehensive assessment found that elephants could breach most walls, with only 12% of walls retaining their integrity (Natarajan et al., 2021). Natarajan et al. (2021) recommended rail track fences as a more durable and impenetrable elephant barrier.

A rail track fence is constructed from a retired, welded railway track. These fences have been used in central and southern India and have proven effective—it is one of the most durable designs used for African (*Loxodonta spp.*)



Figure 37. A rubble wall in southern Bhutan.

and Asian elephants. Railway track fencing has been configured with two, three, or four horizontal track bars attached to vertical track posts (Figure 38). As described by Saklani et al. (2018), applications using just two horizontal track bars have been fraught with issues related to elephants either trying to jump over the 1.7-metre-high fence or attempting to cross through the two bars separated by 0.8 m and becoming stuck. As such, fencing with just two horizontal bars is not considered a sufficient barrier for practical use. Conversely, fence applications with four track bars, such as those employed in central India, have been shown to effectively funnel the elephants to the nearest wildlife crossing or natural habitats over a short distance.



Figure 38. Applications of railway track elephant barrier fencing with two horizontal track bars (left) and four horizontal track bars in Posita, Jharkhand, India (right).

A reinforced-concrete bridge guardrail design is being constructed in Bangladesh on a new railway as an alternative to a rail track fence (Figure 39). This fence has three horizontal rails spaced similarly to track rail fences with a 2.2 m height. Its cost is comparable to a rail track fence and is anticipated to provide an acceptable alternative, especially when track rail is unavailable.





Figure 39. Schematic of reinforced concrete elephant fence for railway project in Bangladesh (top); ongoing construction of fence (lower left); completed fence (lower right).

China has recently employed a welded metal tube (20 cm in diameter) fence (Figure 40) along 2.6 km of the Silan Expressway at 17 elephant hotspots associated with crossing structures to prevent elephants from entering the highway. Preliminary monitoring suggests that the fencing is holding up well; if proven durable, this design may present a more cost-efficient option than the track-rail or reinforced concrete options.



Figure 40. Welded tube metal fence along the Silan Expressway near 17 crossing structures to prevent elephants from reaching the highway.

In Peninsular Malaysia, an innovation called ELEfence was developed through the collaboration of three agencies: the Department of Irrigation and Drainage Malaysia (JPS), the Department of Wildlife and National Parks Peninsular Malaysia (PERHILITAN) and the University of Technology PETRONAS (UTP). It consists of prefabricated concrete columns installed using screw piles and interlinked with prestressed cables (Figure 41). The use of Industrialized Building System (IBS) components helps ensure quality control, reduce environmental impact, and save installation time required on-site compared to in-situ construction. The screw pile system provides quick installation, high load capacity, and minimal site disruption. The ELEfence system has advantages over traditional electric fence systems due to its high lateral durability and low maintenance cost. Currently, ELEfence is constructed along one of the PERHILITAN projects in Kota Tinggi, Johor, the state with some of the highest HEC cases recorded nationally. Some mega-LTI projects in Malaysia, such as the East-Coast Railway Link (ECRL) network and the Gemas-Johor Bahru Electrified Double Tracking Project, have already shown interest in applying ELEfence.



Figure 41. The Malaysian ELEfence prototype was successfully tested at the National Elephant Conservation Centre, Lanchang, Pahang.

Elephant barrier designs that are high-cost, and nearly maintenance-free include concrete ditches and reinforced concrete walls (Figure 42). To date, extensive applications of these measures have been limited as they can be cost-prohibitive.

walls (Figure 42). To date, extensive applications of these measures have been limited as they can be cost-prohibitive. In addition, these structures may not be friendly for small to mid-sized wildlife, as they may create a barrier or become a deadly trap and escape passageways may be needed at intervals.



Figure 42. A dual-purpose reinforced concrete sound and elephant barrier wall in India.

Various vegetative or "biofence" treatments can deter or block Asian elephant passage. Biofences range from chilli peppers planted as a deterrent to the use of thick, spiny or thorny vegetation planted in dense rows to create a barrier. Thorny bamboo (*Bambusa bambos*; Figure 43), native to southern Asia, has been used successfully to block elephant passage (Kumar et al., 2022) and can be combined with electric fencing to increase its effectiveness. It reduces the potential impact of elephants pushing against fencing and causing damage. Thorny bamboo and other plants can be planted to create a buffer beyond fencing to limit elephant access to the fence, thus prolonging its functional life and reducing long-term maintenance.



Figure 43. Thorny bamboo to deter elephant movement and minimise fence damage.

Steep slopes can also assist in deterring elephant passage. Steep uphill slopes can increase the effectiveness of fencing as animals have a more difficult time pushing/leveraging against fences. It also increases the "effective barrier height" of fencing. Effective height is predicated upon the concept of barrier height as a function of increasing slope, as described by Payne and Bryant (1994), where functional fence barrier height increases with slope steepness. For instance, a 2-metre-high fence on flat ground has an effective barrier height of 2.3 m when placed on a gentle (10%) slope. But the same fence has an effective barrier height of 3.2 m on a 30% slope. With proper erosion control, fencing installed on embankment slopes can increase fence effectiveness at minimal additional cost.

Lastly, Thouless and Sakwa (1995) and Natarajan et al. (2021) stress the benefit of combining elephant barrier treatments to improve barrier effectiveness; for instance, highway applications in China have combined electric fences and trenches.

10. Non-Structural Mitigation Approaches

Relatively low-cost, non-structural mitigations are available for low-traffic/low-speed roads that traverse Asian elephant habitats, particularly within protected areas. Such non-structural strategies are intended to modify driver behaviour through reduced vehicular speed and increased alertness. Increased motorist alertness can reduce vehicle stopping distances by as much as 21 m at 88 km per hour vehicle speed, enough to avoid or reduce the severity of collisions with animals (Huijser et al., 2008). The risk of collision increases exponentially with increasing vehicular speed (Kloden et al., 1997). Thus, increasing motorist alertness and decreasing vehicular speed can significantly reduce wildlife-vehicle collision incidence (Huijser et al., 2008), especially where massive Asian elephants are involved.

10.1. Motorist Alert Signage

An important function of highway warning signage is to elicit modified motorist behaviour (e.g., slowing down) in response to anticipated hazards, most of which motorists encounter after passing signage (e.g., sharp curves). In the case of wildlife crossing alert signage, motorists often do not encounter animals when passing signs. This contributes to motorist habituation to the signage, which can often render signage relatively ineffective in helping to lessen wildlife-vehicle collisions (Sullivan et al., 2004, Huijser et al., 2015). Regardless, signage to alert motorists to the potential of encountering elephants is an important step toward promoting motorist safety and reducing collisions (Figure 44).



Figure 44. Asian elephant alert signage. Motorist alert sign erected along the Silan Expressway, Yunnan Province, China (left); caution sign within Rajaji National Park, India (right).

However, Found and Boyce (2011) did find that warning signage effectiveness was increased when signage was erected at limited, place-specific "hotspots," and proper siting was also stressed as important by Huijser et al. (2015). Wildlife warning signage integrated with flashing lights and variable message boards can be more effective than static warning signs (Gagnon et al., 2017; Huijser et al., 2015). However, signs with flashing lights may elicit motorist habituation if they operate continuously (Lehnert and Bissonette, 1997). Flashing signs are most effective when utilised during peak wildlife crossing periods (e.g., migrations). Solar-powered flashing lights (with batteries for nighttime operation) can be attached to static alert signs during key periods such as elephant migration (right). Installation of large, billboard-sized signage can also effectively alert motorists, especially when driving through elephant concentration areas (Figure 45).



Figure 45. Example of a flashing sign.



Figure 46. The installation of billboard-sized signage within elephant linkages, such as this one intersecting the Aring-Kenyir Road in Terengganu, Peninsular Malaysia or other concentration areas, is effective in alerting motorists to potential elephant presence.

The most effective signage is fully integrated with animal-activated detection systems that trigger flashing and message signs only when animals are present (Huijser et al., 2015). When designated place-specific crossings, or crosswalks, were created by fencing and integrated with an animal detection system that triggered time-specific alert signage, large mammal collisions were reduced by 98% without motorist habituation (Gagnon et al., 2019). However, animal detection systems are expensive and maintenance-intensive and may not be well suited for remote applications.

Additionally, the dark colour of the Asian elephant bodies increases the risk of elephant-vehicle collisions along highways during night time. Apart from the installation of signage to increase motorist awareness (Figure 46), the installation of streetlighting may be encouraged at locations where elephants often cross to make it easier for motorists to detect elephants from a further distance so they may slow down and take evasive action to avoid collisions.

10.2. Traffic Calming Measures

Traffic calming is a strategy to slow vehicle speeds and increase driver alertness. Traffic calming measures allow drivers more reaction time and shorter braking distances, thus, decreasing the likelihood of a collision with animals on or approaching the road. There are two categories of traffic calming measures, physical and psychological. Physical measures include rumble strips, narrow lanes, sharp curves/shorter curve radii, speed bumps, humps or tables. These measures can be designed to make it difficult for a vehicle to be controlled at various speeds so that the driver must slow down to maintain control.

A series of signs, striping, and rumble strips slows vehicles on NH 37 in Assam, India (Figure 47). The highway follows the southern border of Kaziranga National Park, where many large animals, such as Asian elephants, tigers and greater one-horned rhinoceros, cross back and forth from the park and the adjacent Karbi Anglong Hills throughout the year (this movement occurs most frequently during the annual monsoon season when a large part of the park floods and wildlife move to higher ground).



Figure 47. Rumble strips from Lumding in Assam. NILANGA JAYASINGHE / WWF-US

HANDBOOK TO MITIGATE THE IMPACTS OF ROADS AND RAILWAYS ON ASIAN ELEPHANTS



Figure 48. An example of high financial penalties for speed violations in India.

Measures that seek to affect driver experience so that they slow down include enforcement of speed limits that are sometimes associated with penalties for speeding and enforced using speed-detection cameras and patrolling by law enforcement agencies (Figure 48); painting narrower lane striping so drivers slow down to decrease their lane departures; groove asphalt so that it is noisier inside the vehicle at higher speeds; use of fixed objects such as curbing, called chicanes (Figure 49); or painting lanes to make a straight road more serpentine. Many of these techniques are more appropriate for roads and highways in protected areas or other non-thoroughfare types of roads. They are not commonly deployed on controlled access, multi-lane, high traffic volume, and high-speed roads.



Figure 49. A chicane where curbs are placed in a straight road to make it more sinuous. CENTER FOR LARGE LANDSCAPE CONSERVATION

When traffic calming measures are integrated with effective signage within designated (place-specific) high-incidence elephant crossing zones, they have the potential to be quite effective. However, more research is needed on the efficacy of the various traffic calming measures in reducing wildlife-vehicle collisions or whether they increase wildlife movement across the road, especially in Asia. One study of the use of rumble strips on the road in Tasmania, Australia, indicated a decrease in the mortality of mammals by 59% (Lester, 2015). A summary of the effectiveness of traffic calming measures and their cost is available from North America (Huijser et al., 2021). A literature review on Google Scholar[™] using "traffic calming" AND "wildlife-vehicle collisions" AND "Asia" returned no scientific papers.

10.3. Railway Mitigation

Raising awareness among locomotive drivers is a vital railway mitigation strategy, particularly increasing their knowledge of key wildlife crossing areas. Enhanced training and information dissemination can significantly increase driver vigilance, enabling them to identify and respond appropriately to sensitive zones. By being more alert and consciously reducing speed in these areas, the likelihood of collisions with wildlife can be substantially reduced, making this an essential component of comprehensive wildlife protection measures.

Early warning systems are a promising measure to reduce Asian elephant mortalities from train collisions. By alerting train drivers to the presence of elephants on or near the tracks so that they may slow down or even stop to prevent collisions with crossing elephants. Two general approaches to sensor technology are being developed in Asia: locomotive- and ground-based systems. Locomotive-based sensor systems (Figure 50) typically employ optical and/or thermal/infrared (Forward Looking Infrared; FLIR) cameras that can detect elephants 750 m or more in advance of trains. Ground-based detection systems can be installed at frequent crossing locations, such as the end of elephant fencing. Such systems typically use a combination of technologies in addition to optical or thermal cameras, including acoustic and/or seismic sensors and radar, to detect the presence of elephants and alert train engineers in real-time via messaging from a base station, train signalling, or by an onboard alarm. Some systems also use GPS to track the location of elephants in relation to railway tracks and provide more detailed information to train drivers. Early locomotive-based systems often required train engineers to monitor cameras to detect elephants. However, machine learning and artificial intelligence (AI) facilitated computer monitoring, which can now detect elephants on or near railways in sufficient time for engineers to take appropriate action.

In a pioneering initiative, the Northeast Frontier Railway (NFR) in India has utilised AI to proactively observe and safeguard wild elephants from train collisions, which have been frequent occurrences in Assam. Through the implementation of AI-based software integrated with optical fibre cable (OFC), the NFR has established a reliable and advanced system to monitor elephant movements and avert potential accidents on railway tracks (Deccan Herald, 2023). This innovative approach marks a significant step forward in mitigating the human-elephant conflict and underscores the promising application of AI technology in wildlife conservation and railway safety management.

A recent sensor technology pilot study in Bangladesh evaluated a range of off-the-shelf detection technologies (Schwarz et al., 2023) for both locomotive- and ground-based systems. They found that combining optical and thermal imaging (FLIR) cameras provided the most reliable detection for both applications (Figure 50). FLIR cameras zoomed out with narrow fields of view (15 degrees), performed best for locomotive-based applications and reliably detected elephants up to 800 m. The main limitation was difficulty discerning elephants from their surroundings on hot days. FLIR cameras with wider fields of view (35 degrees) were reliable in detecting elephants out to 120-200 m and thus were more suited to ground-based systems. An independent train signaling system integrated with the detection systems was developed to provide advanced alerts to approaching trains.





Figure 50. Locomotive in Bangladesh equipped with a thermal imaging camera (top) as part of a sensor technology pilot study, and daytime (bottom left) and nighttime (bottom right) thermal camera images of testing elephants.

In India, the Central Scientific Instruments Organisation (CSIO) has developed reliable and cost-effective elephant detection based on Al-integrated seismic sensors at crossing locations along railways. Their ground-based systems can be integrated with railway signaling or messaging alerts to advise approach trains of crossing elephants.

In addition to traditional early warning systems, new and emerging technologies have the potential to make these detection systems even better at reducing train collisions with Asian elephants. For example, machine learning algorithms can process large amounts of data from cameras and other sensors to accurately detect elephants and other wildlife in real-time (Gunasekara et al., 2021). It should be noted that sensor technologies require constant maintenance to ensure effectiveness and reliability, which can be costly and prove difficult in remote areas. In addition, using unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) could provide a more comprehensive view of the area surrounding railway tracks and help detect elephants at a greater distance, allowing more time for train drivers to respond (Yang et al., 2023).

References

Aguirre, A. A., & Sukumar, R. (Eds.). (2016). Tropical Conservation: Perspectives on Local and Global Priorities. Oxford University Press.

Ahmed, R., & Saikia, A. (2022). Pandora's Box: A spatiotemporal assessment of elephant-train casualties in Assam, India. PLOS ONE, 17(7), Article 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0271416</u>

Ahmed, R., Saikia, A., & Robeson, S. M. (2022). Tracks of Death: Elephant Casualties along the Habaipur–Diphu Railway in Assam, India. Annals of the American Association of Geographers, 112(6), Article 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2021</u>. <u>1990009</u>

Alamgir, M., Campbell, M. J., Sloan, S., Goosem, M., Clements, G. R., Mahmoud, M. I., & Laurance, W. F. (2017). Economic, Socio-Political and Environmental Risks of Road Development in the Tropics. Current Biology, 27(20), R1130–R1140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.08.067

Ament, R., Clevenger, A. P., & van der Ree, R. (2023). Addressing ecological connectivity in the development of roads, railways and canals (Forthcoming) (Protected Area Technical Report Series). IUCN.

Ament, R., Huijser, M., & May, D. (2022). Animal Vehicle Collision Reduction and Habitat Connectivity Cost Effective Solutions—Final Report [Technical Report]. Nevada Department of Transportation. <u>https://scholarworks.montana.edu/xmlui/handle/1/17652</u>

Ament, R., Tiwari, S. K., Butynski, M., Chen, B. S., Dodd, N., Gangadharan, A., Jayasinghe, N., Laur, A., Oppler, G., Wong, E. P., van der Ree, R., & Wang, Y. (2021). Protecting Asian Elephants from Linear Transport Infrastructure: The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group's Introduction to the Challenges and Solutions. Asian Elephant Transport Working Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.53847/VYWN4174</u>

Andrews, K. M., Langen, T. A., & Struijk, R. P. J. H. (2015). Reptiles. In Handbook of Road Ecology (pp. 271–280). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch32</u>

Ascensão, F., Fahrig, L., Clevenger, A. P., Corlett, R. T., Jaeger, J. A. G., Laurance, W. F., & Pereira, H. M. (2018). Environmental challenges for the Belt and Road Initiative'. Nature Sustainability, 1(5), 206–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41893-018-0059-3</u>

Asian Development Bank. (2017). Meeting Asia's Infrastructure Needs. Asian Development Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.22617/</u> FLS168388-2

Asian Development Bank. (2019). Green Infrastructure Design for Transport Projects: A Road Map to Protecting Asia's Wildlife Biodiversity. Asian Development Bank. <u>https://www.adb.org/publications/green-transport-projects-asia-wildlife</u>

Barrueto, M., Ford, A. T., & Clevenger, A. P. (2014). Anthropogenic effects on activity patterns of wildlife at crossing structures. Ecosphere, 5(3), art27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00382.1</u>

Baskaran, N., Kanakasabai, R., & Desai, A. A. (2018). Ranging and Spacing Behaviour of Asian Elephant (Elephas maximus Linnaeus) in the Tropical Forests of Southern India. In C. Sivaperuman & K. Venkataraman (Eds.), Indian Hotspots: Vertebrate Faunal Diversity, Conservation and Management Volume 1 (pp. 295–315). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-6605-4_15</u>

Bastille-Rousseau, G., Murray, D. L., Schaefer, J. A., Lewis, M. A., Mahoney, S. P., & Potts, J. R. (2018). Spatial scales of habitat selection decisions: Implications for telemetry-based movement modelling. Ecography, 41(3), 437–443.

Bekker, G. J., Cuperus, R., Dufek, J., Fry, G., Hicks, C., Hlavác, V., Keller, V., Rosell, C., Sangwine, T., Torslov, N., & Wandall, B. (2003). Wildlife and Traffic: A European Handbook for Identifying Conflicts and Designing Solutions. <u>https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/biodiversidad/publicaciones/cost341-handbook_tcm30-195789.pdf</u>

Bissonette, J. A., & Adair, W. (2008). Restoring habitat permeability to roaded landscapes with isometrically-scaled wildlife crossings. Biological Conservation, 141(2), 482–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.10.019</u>

Bissonette, J., & Cramer, P. (2008). Evaluation of the Use and Effectiveness of Wildlife Crossings. National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, National Academy of Science, 615. <u>https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/wild_facpub/1396</u>

Brennan, L., Chow, E., & Lamb, C. (2022). Wildlife overpass structure size, distribution, effectiveness, and adherence to expert design recommendations. PeerJ, 10, e14371. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.14371</u>

Cagnacci, F., Boitani, L., Powell, R., & Boyce, M. (n.d.). Animal ecology meets GPS-based radiotelemetry: A perfect storm of opportunities and challenges. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0107</u>

Calabrese, A., Calabrese, J. M., Songer, M., Wegmann, M., Hedges, S., Rose, R., & Leimgruber, P. (2017). Conservation status of Asian elephants: The influence of habitat and governance. Biodiversity and Conservation, 26(9), 2067–2081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1345-5

Chogyel, K. (2022). Monitoring and Performance Evaluation: Case Study on the Bhutan Road Network Project-II. <u>https://events.development.asia/system/files/materials/2022/04/202204-monitoring-and-performance-evaluation-case-study-bhutan-road-network-project-ii.pdf</u>

Chogyel, K., Dodd, N., & Yangzom, K. (2017). Wildlife use of highway underpasses in southern Bhutan.'. 2017 Proceedings of the International Conference on Ecology and Transportation.

Clements, G. R. (2013). The environmental and social impacts of roads in southeast Asia [Phd, James Cook University]. https://doi.org/10.25903/0w8z-f063

Clements, G. R., Lynam, A. J., Gaveau, D., Yap, W. L., Lhota, S., Goosem, M., Laurance, S., & Laurance, W. F. (2014). Where and How Are Roads Endangering Mammals in Southeast Asia's Forests? PLOS ONE, 9(12), e115376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115376</u>

Clevenger, A., & Huijser, M. (2011). Wildlife Crossing Structure Handbook, Design and Evaluation in North America.

Clevenger, A. P., & Waltho, N. (2003). Long-term, year-round monitoring of wildlife crossing structures and the importance of temporal and spatial variability in performance studies. <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3g69z4mn</u>

Daim, M. S. (1995). Elephant Translocation: The Malaysian Approach. Gajah.

Dasgupta, S., & Ghosh, A. K. (2015). Elephant–Railway Conflict in a Biodiversity Hotspot: Determinants and Perceptions of the Conflict in Northern West Bengal, India'. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 20(1), 81–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10871209</u>.2014.937017

de la Torre, J. A., Lechner, A. M., Wong, E. P., Magintan, D., Saaban, S., & Campos-Arceiz, A. (2019). Using elephant movements to assess landscape connectivity under Peninsular Malaysia's central forest spine land use policy. Conservation Science and Practice, 1(12), e133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.133</u>

de Silva, S., Wu, T., Nyhus, P., Weaver, A., Thieme, A., Johnson, J., Wadey, J., Mossbrucker, A., Vu, T., Neang, T., Chen, B. S., Songer, M., & Leimgruber, P. (2023). Land-use change is associated with multi-century loss of elephant ecosystems in Asia. Scientific Reports, 13(1), 5996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-30650-8</u>

Dodd, N., & Imran, A. (2018). Assessment of Biodiversity Baseline and Asian Elephant Distribution within the Chittagong-Cox's Bazar Rail Project Area of Influence, Bangladesh. Asian Development Bank (ADB).

Dodd, N. L., Gagnon, J. W., Sprague, S. C., Boe, S., Schweinsburg, R. E., & Arizona. Game and Fish Dept. Research Branch. (2011). Assessment of Pronghorn movements and strategies to promote highway permeability: US Highway 89. (FHWA-AZ-10-619). <u>https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/23088</u>

Dorsey, B., Olsson, M., & Rew, L. J. (2015). Ecological Effects of Railways on Wildlife. In Handbook of Road Ecology (pp. 219–227). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch26</u>

Dublin, H., Desai, A., Hedges, S., vie, J.-C., Bambaradeniya, C., & Lopez, A. (2006). Elephant Range States Meeting. Kuala Lampur. <u>https://www.fws.gov/International/pdf/report-asian-elephant-range-states-meeting-2006.pdf</u>

Ekstrom, J., Bennun, L., & Mitchell, R. (2015). A cross-sector guide for implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy. Cross Sector Biodiversity Initiative. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004322714_cclc_2015-0013-003</u>

Epps, C., Palsbøll, P., Wehausen, J., Roderick, G., Ramey, R., & McCullough, D. (2005). Highways block gene flow and cause a rapid decline in genetic diversity of desert bighorn sheep. Ecology Letters, 8, 1029–1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00804.x</u>

Fahrig, L., & Rytwinski, T. (2009). Effects of Roads on Animal Abundance: An Empirical Review and Synthesis. Ecology and Society, 14(1). <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26268057</u>

Fernando, P., & Pastorini, J. (2011). Range-wide status of Asian elephants. Gajah, 35. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/</u>publication/258239307 Range-wide status of Asian elephants

Foggin, J. M., Lechner, A. M., Emslie-Smith, M., Hughes, A. C., Sternberg, T., & Dossani, R. (2021). Belt and Road Initiative in Central Asia: Anticipating socioecological challenges from large-scale infrastructure in a global biodiversity hotspot. Conservation Letters, 14(6), e12819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12819</u>

Forman, R., Sperling, D., Bissonette, J., & Clevenger, A. (2003). Road Ecology: Science And Solutions. Bibliovault OAI Repository, the University of Chicago Press.

Rob Found, & Mark S. Boyce. (2011). Warning Signs Mitigate Deer–Vehicle Collisions in an Urban Area. Wildlife Society Bulletin (2011-), 35(3), 291–295. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/wildsocibull2011.35.3.291</u>

Gagnon, J. W., Loberger, C. D., Ogren, K. S., Sprague, S. C., Boe, S. R., Schweinsburg, R. E., & Arizona. Game and Fish Department. Wildlife Contracts Branch. (2017). Evaluation of Desert Bighorn Sheep Overpass Effectiveness: U.S. Route 93 Long-Term Monitoring (FHWA-AZ-17-710). <u>https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/37204</u>

Gagnon, J. W., Schweinsburg, R. E., & Dodd, N. L. (2007). Effects of Roadway Traffic on Wild Ungulates: A Review of the Literature and Case Study of Elk in Arizona. <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9ms8f1k6</u>

Ghosh, S., Das, R., Das, D., Nandy, S., Das, T., Sonker, G., & Dash, S. K. (2022). Human-elephant conflict: Identifying factors behind retaliatory killings of the National Heritage animal of India in terms of electrocution in a shared landscape [Preprint]. In Review. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2304878/v1</u>

Gordon, K. M., & Anderson, S. H. (2003). Mule deer use of underpasses in western and southeastern Wyoming.

Goswami, V. R. (2014). Community-managed forests and wildlife-friendly agriculture play a subsidiary but not substitutive role to protected areas for the endangered Asian elephant'. Biological Conservation, 177, 74–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.06.013</u>

Government of Nepal. (2020). Wildlife-friendly Infrastructure Construction Directives. <u>https://wwfasia.awsassets.panda.org/</u> <u>downloads/endorsed_wildlife_friendly_infrastructure_construction_directives.pdf</u>

Guan, L., Wang, Y., Chen, B., Wang, J., Xu, J., Zheng, H., & Zhao, K. (2020). Activity Rhythm of Asian Elephants at Wild Elephant Valley Section of Simao-Xiaomengyang Expressway. Transport Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.16503/j.cnki.2095-9931.2020.04.007</u>

Gunasekara, S., Jayasuriya, M., Harischandra, N., Samaranayake, L., & Dissanayake, G. (2021). A Convolutional Neural Network Based Early Warning System to Prevent Elephant-Train Collisions. 2021 IEEE 16th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), 271–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIIS53135.2021.9660651</u>

Gupta, S., Mohan, N., Nayak, P., Nagaraju, K. C., & Karanam, M. (2022). Deep vision-based surveillance system to prevent train–elephant collisions. Soft Computing, 26(8), Article 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00500-021-06493-8</u>

Habib, D. B. (2020). Monitoring of animal underpasses on national highway 44 (earlier 7) passing through pench tiger reserve, Maharashtra (p. 30). Department of Animal Ecology and conservation Biology Wildlife Institute of India.

Hebblewhite, M., & Haydon, D. T. (2010). Distinguishing technology from biology: A critical review of the use of GPS telemetry data in ecology. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365(1550), 2303–2312. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0087 Hedges, S., Fisher, K., & Rose, R. (2008). Range-wide Mapping Workshop for Asian Elephants (*Elephas maximus*). In Report to USFWS. <u>https://www.fws.gov/international/pdf/report-asian-elephant-range-wide-mapping-workshop-2008.pdf</u>

Hedges, S., Maisels, F., & Blake, S. (2012). Estimating Absolute Densities of Elephant Populations Using Dung Counts Along Line Transects: Field Methods (pp. 172–213).

Hilty, J., Worboys, G. L., Keeley, A., Woodley, S., Lausche, B. J., Locke, H., Carr, M., Pulsford, I., Pittock, J., White, J. W., Theobald, D. M., Levine, J., Reuling, M., Watson, J. E. M., Ament, R., & Tabor, G. M. (2020). Guidelines for conserving connectivity through ecological networks and corridors (C., Ed.). IUCN, International Union for Conservation of Nature. <u>https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.CH.2020.PAG.30.en</u>

Huang, C., Li, X., Hu, W., & Jiang, X. (2020). Predicting indirect effects of transportation network expansion on Asian elephants: Implications for environmental impact assessments. Biotropica, 52(1), 196–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12726</u>

Hughes, A. C. (2019). Understanding and minimizing environmental impacts of the Belt and Road Initiative. Conservation Biology, 33(4), 883–894. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13317</u>

Huijser, M., May, D., & Ament, R. (2022). Animal Vehicle Collision Reduction and Habitat Connectivity Cost Effective Solutions—Final Report [Technical Report]. Nevada Department of Transportation. <u>https://scholarworks.montana.edu/xmlui/handle/1/17652</u>

Huijser, M. P., McGowen, P., Fuller, J., Hardy, A., Kociolek, A., Clevenger, A. P., Smith, D., & Ament, R. (2008). Wildlife-Vehicle Collision Reduction Study: Report to Congress. US Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. <u>https://westerntransportationinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/4W1096_Report_to_Congress.pdf</u>

Huijser, M. P., Mosler-Berger, C., Olsson, M., & Strein, M. (2015). Wildlife Warning Signs and Animal Detection Systems Aimed at Reducing Wildlife Vehicle Collisions. Handbook of Road Ecology. <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118568170.ch24</u>

luell, B. (2003). Wildlife and traffic - a european handbook for identifying conflicts and designing solutions. The XXIInd PIARC World Road CongressWorld Road Association (PIARC). <u>https://trid.trb.org/view/749891</u>

Jacobson, S. L., Bliss-Ketchum, L. L., de Rivera, C. E., & Smith, W. P. (2016). A behavior-based framework for assessing barrier effects to wildlife from vehicle traffic volume. Ecosphere, 7(4), e01345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1345</u>

Joshi, R., Puri, K., & Bhawan, I. P. (2019). Train–elephant collisions in a biodiversity- rich landscape: A case study from Rajaji National Park, north India. Human–Wildlife Interactions, 13.

Joshi, R., & Singh, R. (2007). Asian Elephants are Losing Their Seasonal Traditional Movement Tracks: A Decade of Study in and Around the Rajaji National Park, India. 15 Gajah, 27, 15–26.

Joshi, R., & Singh, R. (2011). Unusual Behavioural Responses of Elephants: A Challenge for Mitigating Man – Elephant Conflict in "Shivalik Elephant Reserve", Northwest India'. International Journal of Conservation Science, 2, 185–198.

Joshi, R., Singh, R., Dixit, A., Agarwal, R., Negi, M. S., Pandey, N., Pushola, R., & Rawat, S. (2010). Is Isolation of Protected Habitats the Prime Conservation Concern for Endangered Asian Elephants in Shivalik Landscape?

Joshi, R., Singh, R., & Pant, G. (2008). Asian Elephant (Elephas maximus) and Riparian Wildlife Corridors: A Case Study from Lesser- Himalayan Zone of Uttarakhand. <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Asian-Elephant-(Elephas-maximus)-and-Riparian-A-of-Joshi-Singh/65729b7164bda6645e5a6c9213370f19f74e5633</u>

Kasmuri, N., Nazar, N., & Yazid, A. Z. M. (2020). Human and Animals Conflicts: A case study of wildlife roadkill in Malaysia. Environment-Behaviour Proceedings Journal, 5(13), Article 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.21834/e-bpj.v5i13.2093</u>

Kloeden, C., Ponte, G., & McLean, A. (1997). Travelling Speed and the Risk of Crash Involvement on Rural Roads.

Koskei, M., Kolowski, J., Wittemyer, G., Lala, F., Douglas-Hamilton, I., & Okita-Ouma, B. (2022). The role of environmental, structural and anthropogenic variables on underpass use by African savanna elephants (Loxodonta africana) in the Tsavo Conservation Area. Global Ecology and Conservation, 38, e02199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2022.e02199</u>

Kumar, D., Yadav, R. S., Kadam, D. M., Ahirwar, L. L., Dohare, A. K., & Singh, G. (2022). Development of bamboo-(Bambusa bambos) based bio-fence to protect field crops: Insights from a study in India's Bundelkhand region. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 10. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2022.943226</u>

Lala, F., Chiyo, P. I., Omondi, P., Okita-Ouma, B., Kanga, E., Koskei, M., Tiller, L., Morris, A. W., Severud, W. J., & Bump, J. K. (2022). Influence of infrastructure, ecology, and underpass-dimensions on multi-year use of Standard Gauge Railway underpasses by mammals in Tsavo, Kenya. Scientific Reports, 12(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-09555-5</u>

Lam, W.Y. (2017) Where and when are poaching most active in Kenyir's forests? Using crime science and wildlife research techniques to detect spatiotemporal patterns of activities associated with poaching. MSc Thesis. Universiti Malaysia Terengganu.

Laurance, W. F., & Arrea, I. B. (2017). Roads to riches or ruin?'. Science, 358(6362), 442–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aa00312</u>

Lechner, A. M., Chan, F. K. S., & Campos-Arceiz, A. (2018). Biodiversity conservation should be a core value of China's Belt and Road Initiative'. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 2(3), 408–409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0452-8</u>

Lehnert, M., & Bissonette, J. (1997). Effectiveness of Highway Crosswalk Structures at Reducing Deer-Vehicle Collisions. Wildlife Society Bulletin, 25, 809–818.

Leimgruber, P., Gagnon, J. B., Wemmer, C., Kelly, D. S., Songer, M. A., & Selig, E. R. (2003). Fragmentation of Asia's remaining wildlands: Implications for Asian elephant conservation'. Animal Conservation, 6(4), 347–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1367943003003421</u>

Lester, D. (2015). Effective Wildlife Roadkill Mitigation. Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering, 3(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.17265/2328-2142/2015.01.005</u>

Liu, P., Wen, H., Harich, F. K., He, C., Wang, L., Guo, X., Zhao, J., Luo, A., Yang, H., Sun, X., Yu, Y., Zheng, S., Guo, J., Li, L., & Zhang, L. (2017). Conflict between conservation and development: Cash forest encroachment in Asian elephant distributions'. Scientific Reports, 7(1), 6404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06751-6</u>

McGuire, T. M., Clevenger, A. P., Ament, R., Callahan, R., & Jacobson, S. (2020). Innovative strategies to reduce the costs of effective wildlife overpasses. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-267. Albany, CA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, 267. <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/research/treesearch/61443</u>

Meek, P., Ballard, G., & Fleming, P. (2012). An Introduction to Camera Trapping for Wildlife Surveys in Australia.

Menon, V., Ganguly, U., Tiwar, S. K., Stewart-Cox, B., Melidonis, C., & Gandhi, T. (2020). Safe Passage, Safe Habitation: Securing the Thirunelli-Kudrakote Elephant Corridor through Voluntary Relocation. In Conservation Action Report 20200815. Wildlife Trust of India. <u>https://www.wti.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Safe-Passage-Safe-Habitation_WTI_Aug-2020.pdf</u>

Menon, V., & Tiwari, S. K. (2019). Population status of Asian elephants Elephas maximus and key threats'. International Zoo Yearbook, 53(1), 17–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/izy.12247</u>

Menon, V., Tiwari, S. K., Ramkumar, K., Kyarong, S., Ganguly, U., & Sukumar, R. (2017). Right of Passage: Elephant Corridors in India'. <u>https://www.wti.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/pub_right_of_passage-1.pdf</u>

Mohanarangan, A., Chinnaiyan, S., Kaliyaperumal, S., Shanmugavelu, S., & Desai, A. A. (2022). Age-Specific differences in Asian elephant defecation, dung decay, detection and their implication for dung count. Ecological Solutions and Evidence, 3(2), e12145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12145</u>

Motaleb, M. A., Ahmed, M. S., Haque, M. A., & Islam, H. (2016). Atlas: Elephant routes and corridors in Bangladesh. <u>https://policycommons.net/artifacts/1373157/atlas/1987378/</u>

Natarajan, L., Kumar, A., Qureshi, Q., Desai, A. A., & Pandav, B. (2021). Evaluation of Wall-Barriers to Manage Human Conflict with Asian Elephants in India. Wildlife Society Bulletin, 45(2), 215–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.1195</u>

Nayak, R., Karanth, K. K., Dutta, T., Defries, R., Karanth, K. U., & Vaidyanathan, S. (2020). Bits and pieces: Forest fragmentation by linear intrusions in India. Land Use Policy, 99, 104619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104619</u>

Neupane, D., Kwon, Y., Risch, T. S., Williams, A. C., & Johnson, R. L. (2019). Habitat use by Asian elephants: Context matters'. Global Ecology and Conservation, 17, 00570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00570</u>

Ng, L. S., Campos-Arceiz, A., Sloan, S., Hughes, A. C., Tiang, D. C. F., Li, B. V., & Lechner, A. M. (2020). The scale of biodiversity impacts of the Belt and Road Initiative in Southeast Asia. Biological Conservation, 248, 108691. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108691</u>

Northeast Frontier Railway uses AI to prevent elephants getting hit by trains | Deccan Herald. (2023). Deccan Herald. <u>https://www.deccanherald.com/national/east-and-northeast/northeast-frontier-railway-uses-ai-to-prevent-elephants-getting-hit-by-trains-1180400.html</u>

Nyhus, P. J. (2016). Human–Wildlife Conflict and Coexistence. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 41(1), 143–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085634</u>

Palei, N. C., Palei, H. S., Rath, B. P., & Kar, C. S. (2014). Mortality of the Endangered Asian elephant Elephas maximus by electrocution in Odisha, India. Oryx, 48(4), 602–604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S003060531400012X</u>

Palei, N. C., Rath, B. P., & Behera, D. R. (2021). Mortality Patterns of Asian Elephants in Odisha, Eastern India. Gajah.

Pan, W., Lin, L., Luo, A., & Zhang, L. (2009). Corridor use by Asian elephants'. Integrative Zoology, 4(2), 220–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-4877.2009.00154.x</u>

Payne, N. F., & Bryant, F. C. (1994). Techniques for wildlife habitat management of uplands. (No Title). <u>https://cir.nii.ac.jp/</u> <u>crid/1130000797504017536</u>

PLANMalaysia. (2022). Master Plan For Ecological Linkages Central Forest Spine (PIRECFS) 2022: Roles And Responsibilities Of Implementing Agencies. <u>https://mytownnet.planmalaysia.gov.my/index.php/books/master-plan-for-ecological-linkages-central-forest-spine-pirecfs-2022-roles-and-responsibilities-of-implementing-agencies/</u>

Rajvanshi, A., & Mathur, V. B. (2015). Planning Roads through Sensitive Asian Landscapes. In Handbook of Road Ecology (pp. 430–438). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch53</u>

Rajvanshi, A., Mathur, V., Teleki, G., & Mukherjee, S. (2001). Roads, Sensitive Habitats and Wildlife Roads, Sensitive Habitats and Wildlife Environmental Guideline for India and South Asia.

Rangaranjan, M., Desai, A., Sukumar, R., Menon, V., Vincent, S., Ganguly, S., Talukdar, B., singh, B., Mudappa, D., & Chowdhury, S. (2010). Gajah. In Securing the Future for Elephants in India: The Report of the Elephant Task Force, Ministry of Environment and Forests (p. 188). <u>https://www.asesg.org/PDFfiles/2017/Gajah.pdf</u>

Roy, M., & Sukumar, R. (2017). Railways and Wildlife: A Case Study of Train-Elephant Collisions in Northern West Bengal, India' (L. Borda-de-Água, Ed.). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57496-7_10</u>

Rytwinski, T., Soanes, K., Jaeger, J. A. G., Fahrig, L., Findlay, C. S., Houlahan, J., Ree, R. van der, & Grift, E. A. van der. (2016). How Effective Is Road Mitigation at Reducing Road-Kill? A Meta-Analysis. PLOS ONE, 11(11), e0166941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166941</u>

Saklani, A., Kumar, D., Gayathri, A., & Krishnan, A. (n.d.). The Railway-Line Fence: A New Passive Elephant Barrier at Bannerghatta National Park, Southern India.

Sarma, U., Easa, P. S., & Menon, V. (2006). Deadly Tracks- A scientific approach to understanding and mitigating elephant mortality due to train hits in Assam. <u>https://wti.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/pub_deadly_tracks.pdf</u>

Sawaya, M. A., Clevenger, A. P., & Kalinowski, S. T. (2013). Demographic Connectivity for Ursid Populations at Wildlife Crossing Structures in Banff National Park. Conservation Biology, 27(4), 721–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12075</u>

Shaffer, L. J., Khadka, K. K., Van Den Hoek, J., & Naithani, K. J. (2019). Human-Elephant Conflict: A Review of Current Management Strategies and Future Directions. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 6. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/</u> <u>articles/10.3389/fevo.2018.00235</u>

Sharma, P., Panthi, S., Yadav, S. K., Bhatta, M., Karki, A., Duncan, T., Poudel, M., & Acharya, K. P. (2020). Suitable habitat of wild Asian elephant in Western Terai of Nepal. Ecology and Evolution, 10(12), 6112–6119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecc3.6356</u>

Silva, I., Crane, M., & Savini, T. (2021). The road less traveled: Addressing reproducibility and conservation priorities of wildlife-vehicle collision studies in tropical and subtropical regions. Global Ecology and Conservation, 27, e01584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01584</u>

Simpson, B. K., Nasaruddin, N., Traeholt, C., & Nor, S. Md. (2020). Mammal Diversity at Artificial Saltlicks in Malaysia: A Targeted Use. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 8, 556877. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.556877</u>

Singh, A. P., & Sharma, R. C. (2001). Conflicts between linear developments and Asian elephants in sub—Himalayan zone of Uttranchal. <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7c7135nq</u>

Singh, E. A. P., & Chalisgaonkar, E. R. (n.d.). Restoration of Corridors to Facilitate the Movement of Wild Asian Elephants in Rajaji-Corbett Elephant Range, INDIA.

Smith, D. J., van der Ree, R., & Rosell, C. (2015). Wildlife Crossing Structures: An Effective Strategy to Restore or Maintain Wildlife Connectivity Across Roads (pp. 172–183). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch21</u>

Sołowczuk, A. (2020). Effect of Landscape Elements and Structures on the Acoustic Environment on Wildlife Overpasses Located in Rural Areas. Sustainability, 12, 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197866</u>

St. Clair, C., Whittington, J., Forshner, A., Gangadharan, A., & Laskin, D. (2020). Railway mortality for several mammal species increases with train speed, proximity to water, and track curvature. Scientific Reports, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77321-6</u>

Sukmasuang, R., Charaspet, K., Panganta, T., Pla-ard, M., Khiowsree, N., & THONGBANTHUM, J. (2020). Diversity, abundance, activity period, and factors affecting the appearance of wildlife around the corridors between Khao Yai- Thap Lan National Parks, Thailand by camera trapping. Biodiversitas Journal of Biological Diversity, 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d210563</u>

Suksavate, W., Duengkae, P., & Chaiyes, A. (2019). Quantifying landscape connectivity for wild Asian elephant populations among fragmented habitats in Thailand'. Global Ecology and Conservation, 19, 00685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00685</u>

Sukumar, R. (2003). The Living Elephants: Evolutionary Ecology, Behaviour, and Conservation. Oxford University Press.

The Development Corridors Partnership. (2022). Impact Assessment for Corridors: From Infrastructure to Development Corridors. Hobbs, J. and Juffe-Bignoli, D. (eds.).

Thia, J. P., & Ong Lopez, A. (2023). Infrastructure quality and trade liberalization. Structural Change and Economic Dynamics, 66, 134–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.strueco.2023.04.012</u>

Thomas, W. (2021, December 2). 1,160 elephants killed due to reasons other than natural causes: MoEFCC. The Hindu. https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/1160-elephants-killed-due-to-reasons-other-than-natural-causes-moefcc/ article37796114.ece

Thurfjell, H., Ciuti, S., & Boyce, M. S. (2014). Applications of step-selection functions in ecology and conservation. Movement Ecology, 2(1), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-3933-2-4</u>

van der Ree, R., Gagnon, J. W., & Smith, D. J. (2015). Fencing. In Handbook of Road Ecology (pp. 159–171). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch20</u>

van der Ree, R., Smith, D., & Grilo, C. (2015). The Ecological Effects of Linear Infrastructure and Traffic (pp. 1–9). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch1</u>

Vidya, T. N. C., & Thuppil, V. (2010). Immediate behavioural responses of humans and Asian elephants in the context of road traffic in southern India. Biological Conservation, 143(8), 1891–1900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.043</u>

Wadey, J., Beyer, H. L., Saaban, S., Othman, N., Leimgruber, P., & Campos-Arceiz, A. (2018). Why did the elephant cross the road? The complex response of wild elephants to a major road in Peninsular Malaysia'. Biological Conservation, 218, 91–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.11.036</u>

Wang, Y., Guan, L., Piao, Z., Wang, Z., & Kong, Y. (2017). Monitoring wildlife crossing structures along highways in Changbai Mountain, China. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 50, 119–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2016.10.030</u>

Wang, Y., Kong, Y., & Chen, J. (2015). China. In Handbook of Road Ecology (pp. 465–471). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118568170.ch57</u>

Wang, Y., Qu, J., Han, Y., Du, L., Wang, M., Yang, Y., Cao, G., Tao, S., & Kong, Y. (2022). Impacts of linear transport infrastructure on terrestrial vertebrate species and conservation in China. Global Ecology and Conservation, 38, e02207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2022.e02207

Wildlife Institute of India (WII). (2016). Eco-friendly Measures to Mitigate Impacts of Linear Infrastructure on Wildlife. Wildlife Institute of India (WII). <u>https://wii.gov.in/images/images/documents/eia/EIA_BPG_Report_2017.pdf</u>

Williams, C., Tiwari, S. K., Goswami, V. R., Silva, S., Kumar, A., Baskaran, N., Yoganand, K., & Menon, V. (2020). Elephas maximus, Asian elephant, The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2020: E.T7140A45818198. <u>https://www.asesg.org/</u> PDFfiles/Asian%20Elephant%20Red%20List%20Assessment%202020.pdf

Woo, D., Park, H., Seo, H., Moon, H., Song, E., Lim, A., & Choi, T. (2018). Assessing compliance with the wildlife crossing guideline in South Korea. Journal of Forest and Environmental Science, 34(2), 176–179.

Yamamoto-Ebina, S., Saaban, S., Campos-Arceiz, A., & Takatsuki, S. (2016). Food Habits of Asian Elephants Elephas maximus in a Rainforest of Northern Peninsular Malaysia. Mammal Study, 41, 155–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.3106/041.041.0306</u>

Yang, N., Dai, X., Wang, B., Wen, M., Gan, Z., Li, Z., & Duffy, K. J. (2023). Mapping potential human-elephant conflict hotspots with UAV monitoring data. Global Ecology and Conservation, 43, e02451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2023.</u> e02451

Yang, W., Ma, Y., Jing, L., Wang, S., Sun, Z., Tang, Y., & Li, H. (2022). Differential Impacts of Climatic and Land Use Changes on Habitat Suitability and Protected Area Adequacy across the Asian Elephant's Range. Sustainability, 14(9), Article 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14094933</u>

Zainol, N., Mohd. Taher, T., Abd. Razak, S. N., Noh, N. A. I., Muhammad Nazir, N. A., Md. Shukor, A., Ibrahim, A., & Md. Nor, S. (2021). Wildlife Crossings at Felda Aring—Tasik Kenyir Road, Malaysia. Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science, 44(2), Article 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.44.2.09</u>

Zhang, B., Tang, J., Wang, Y., Zhang, H., Xu, G., Lin, Y., & Wu, X. (2019). Designing wildlife crossing structures for ungulates in a desert landscape: A case study in China (arXiv:1903.05947). arXiv. <u>http://arxiv.org/abs/1903.05947</u>



A herd of elephants crosses a road at Anamalai Hills, India. SREEDHAR VIJAYAKRISHNAN

Asian Elephant Transport Working Group (AsETWG): Building a Network of Experts to Address Elephant-LTI Conflicts

The Asian Elephant Transport Working Group (AsETWG) was formed in 2018 as a collaboration between the IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas' Connectivity Conservation Specialist Group (CCSG) and the IUCN Species Survival Commission's Asian Elephant Specialist Group (AsESG). AsETWG currently has a growing membership of more than 30 volunteers working to deliver practical, flexible, and science-based solutions that avoid and mitigate threats of LTI to Asian elephants across all 13 range states. Interested participants are encouraged to volunteer their time and contribute their energy and knowledge to ongoing activities.

To learn more about AsETWG, visit: <u>http://conservationcorridor.org/ccsg/working-groups/asetwg/</u> To apply for membership, visit: <u>https://conservationcorridor.org/ccsg/membership/</u> For more information, contact: <u>connectivity@largelandscapes.org</u>